The small Indian community in South Africa made enormous sacrifices in their
passive resistance (satyagraha), led by M.K. Gandhi, against oppressive and racist
measures instituted by the Governments from 1907 to 1913.

The struggle began in the Transvaal against the Asiatic Registration Act of
1907 which required male Asiatic residents of the Transvaal—Indians and the
Chinese—to register again with ten thumb prints and carry the certificates to be
produced on demand by the police and other officials. This humiliating measure,
similar to the pass laws imposed on the Africans, was soon supplemented by the
Immigration Restriction Act which made it difficult even for former residents of
the Transvaal to enter the province.

In the first phase of the struggle until the end of January 1908, when the author-
ities agreed to accept voluntary registration, about 200 men were imprisoned for
picketing or for not registering under the Act. The government, however, refused
to abolish the Asiatic Registration Act after almost all the persons concerned
registered.

The second phase of the resistance began in July 1908. More than one-third
of the adult Indian males suffered imprisonment and harsh prison conditions, as
well as arbitrary deportations, by defying the Asiatic Act and the Immigration
Restriction Act of 1907. Many stalwarts were reduced to poverty. A provisional
agreement was reached in 1911, a year after the Union of South Africa was formed,
but the government failed to implement the agreement. Instead Asiatics were
subjected to new indignities and harsher implementation of laws.

The struggle had to be renewed all over the Union in September 1913. Women
were invited to join the movement as the courts declared all non-Christian
marriages invalid in South Africa and the Government refused to enact legislation
to restore the earlier situation. About forty women went to prison, mostly for three
months with hard labour.

Indian workers were encouraged to suspend work as the Government broke its
promise to abolish the obnoxious £3 annual tax in Natal on former indentured
workers, their wives and children. The response was far beyond expectations.
About forty thousand Indian workers went on strike, several were killed or injured
and thousands confined in prisons and mine compounds.
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This part of the book contains information obtained from available sources on
the persons who participated and sacrificed in the resistance, as well as those who
provided significant assistance though they did not court imprisonment.

The first chapter contains a list of Satyagrahis and the second contains biograph-
ical notes on some resisters. The third chapter is a list of workers who were killed
wounded or imprisoned.! The last chapter is a note on some of those who provided
significant assistance to the struggle.

These lists cover only a small fraction of the tens of thousands of resisters, most
of whom are unknown.

Indian Opinion, the main source for the preparation of the lists, gave only the
first names in many cases and the spellings of the names were not always consistent
so that there may be a few duplications. Many of the names appear only in the
Guyjarati edition of /ndian Opinion, and their spellings in English in CWAMG may
not be accurate, especially in the case of South Indian names.

The names of women resisters are in italics.

The following abbreviations are used for the principal sources:

10— Indian Opinion
Gorpen NumBER OF INDIAN OPINION— Golden Number of Indian Opinion, 1914,

Souvenir of the Passive Resistance Movement of South Africa 1906-1914
(Phoenix: Indian Opinion Press, 1914)

CWMG— Collected Works of Mahatma Gandhi (New Delhi: Publications Division,
Government of India, 1958-94)

IND REv—Indian Review, Madras

Navar—Sushila Nayar, Mahatma Gandhpi, Volume IV—Satyagraha ar Work,
(Navajivan Publishing House, Ahmedabad, 1989)

Brampaw—Dhanee Bramdaw (ed.). 7he South African Indian Who's Who and
Commercial Directory, 1936—37 (The Natal Witness, Limited, Pietermaritz-
burg, 1935)

ProENTX CENTENARY— Commemorating the Centenary of Phoenix Settlement 1904—
2004 (Gandhi Development Trust, Durban, 2004)

PreToriA Tamir LEAGUE—Pretoria Tamil League, A Tribute to a Great Man, Mabatma
Gandhi, 1981

1 Satyagrahis (passive resisters) were those who defied the oppressive laws and courted impris-
onment to secure all the minimum demands of the struggle. The workers were on strike only for
the abolition of the £3 tax. This distinction does not in any way imply that the striking workers
made less sacrifices or contributed less to the success of the struggle. Workers who were arrested
during the resistance in the Transvaal are listed among the Satyagrahis as they were not on strike
in protest against the £3 tax but defied the anti-Asiatic laws like other resisters.
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NAMES OF RESISTERS I .

This list includes some persons who did not court imprisonment but
were arrested on the charge of inciting the strike of Indian workers.
Fines imposed by the courts are not indicated, unless there was no
option of prison, as all resisters chose prison instead of paying fine.
All the resisters in the ‘first phase’ (up to the end of January 1908)
were released on 31 January 1908. All those arrested before May 1911
were arrested in the Transvaal; some of them had come from Natal.

ABRAHAM, Louis Gabriel—Deported in 1910. ({0, 30 April 1910).

ACHARY (ACHARIA), T. Subramania—Store-keeper. Possessed Natal domicile
certificate and had property in Natal. Son of R. Appasamy Pather of Durban.
Studied up to matriculation in Trichinapoly. Crossed Natal-Transvaal border
with Gandhi in March 1910. Deported from the Transvaal to India. (1O, 19
March and 6 April 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

ACOQ]I, Ismail—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0,
30 January 1909).

ADAJANIA, Sorabji Shapurji—See ‘SHAPUR]JI, Sorabji’ in ‘Biographical Notes..

ADAM, Ebrahim—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0,
30 January 1909).

ADAM, Essa—Deported. ({0, 30 April 1910).

ADAM, Sheikh—Butcher. Sentenced to one month with hard labour. ({0, 31
October 1908).

ADAM, Valli Amodjee—Sentenced to one month with hard labour in 1909.
Deported in 1910. (0, 27 March 1909 and 30 April 1910).

ADIA, Ismail Essopjee—of Pretoria. Sentenced to three days with hard labour.
({10, 19 September 1908).

ADIA, Moosa Essop—Pretoria storekeeper. Fined £1 for trading without licence
and given no option of serving imprisonment. He refused to pay. His store was
forcibly closed while attaching goods. (/0, 29 August and 5 September 1908).

ADIA, Moosa Ismail—Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered on 19 January 1908
to leave the Transvaal by 1 February for not registering under the Asiatic Act.
({0, 25 January 1908).
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ADIKELAN—Arrested. Sentenced to deportation. (/0, 21 May 1910).

AHMED, Abdool—of Klerksdorp. Sentenced to four days or a fine of one pound
in August 1908 for trading without licence. He went to jail but paid the fine
the next day. ({0, 15 August 1908).

AHMED, Essop—of Heidelberg. Storekeeper. Fined £5 without option of prison.
({0, 29 August 1908).

AHMED, Ismail—of Roodepoort. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for
trading without licence. ({0, 17 October 1908).

AHMED, Ismail—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without licence.
({0, 15 August 1908).

AHMED, Mirza Hoosen—Sentenced to six weeks in prison with hard labour.
({0, 14 November 1908).

AHMED, Moosa—Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908, along
with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Transvaal Immigration Restriction
Act, to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident. He had permits and regis-
tration certificate under the Peace Preservation Ordinance. He refused to give
thumb impressions under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 29 August 1909).

AJlJ, Abdul—Ordered to leave the Transvaal within seven days. ({0, 3 October
1908).

AKOQJEE, Alibhai—Wholesale and retail merchant in Pretoria. Satyagrahi in
the first phase. Did not register under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave
the Transvaal within 14 days. ({0, 18 January 1908). Left for India in April
1908. (10, 18 April 1908).

AKOQJEE, Ismail—Sentenced on 21 July 1908, to four days for hawking without
licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic Act. ({0,
25 July 1908).

AKOON-—TFriend and servant of Mehtab family. Sentenced in October 1913 to
three months with hard labour and released from prison in January 1914. ({0,
14 January 1914). See also MEHTAB, Mrs. Sheikh.’

ALALKHARIA, Moosa—DPotchefstroom. Ordered to leave the Transvaal by the
end of 5 January 1908 for being without registration certificate. ({0, 1 February
1908).

ALI, Essa—Grocer. Charged for trading without licence. (0, 3 October 1908).

ALI, Noor—Deported from the Transvaal to India. ({0, 16 April 1910).

ALI Syed—of Springs. Sentenced on 19 August 1908 for seven days with hard
labour for trading without licence. Suffered ill-treatment in prison. ({0, 26
September 1908).

ALIBUX, Abdul—Satyagrahi in the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908).

ALIMIA—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for hawking without licence.
({0, 1 August 1908).

ALLI, Hassim—General dealer. Fined, with no option of prison. (0, 31 October
1908).

214§ PIONEERS OF SATYAGRAHA



ALVAR (ALWAR), Ananda—Hawker. Went to Natal in 1893 under indenture.
Arrested in April 1910 and deported from the Transvaal to India. Left wife and
three children in the Transvaal. Returned to Durban, not allowed to land and
sent to Port Elizabeth. ({0, 16 April, 23 July and 1 October 1910). Released
from prison on 15 December 1910. (0, 24 December 1910; InD REV, June 1910).

AMARSHI—of Pietersburg. Arrested in December 1907. (0, 28 December 1907).

AMBALAL—of Pietersburg. Arrested in December 1907 for not registering under
the Asiatic Act and ordered to leave the Transvaal within four days. (0, 28
December 1907; 4 January 1908).

AMIR, Abdool Hamid—Fined one shilling, with no option of prison. His goods
were auctioned and he lost more than £17. (O, 21 November and 19 December
1908).

AMJA, Ebrahim Moosa—Fined, with no option of prison. His goods were
auctioned. ({0, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

AMOD, DAW]JI—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (/O, 17 October
1908).

AMOD, Ebrahim—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days with
hard labour. (/0, 15 August 1908).

AMOD, Suliman—Sentenced to a fine, with no option of prison. His goods
were auctioned and the cost was many times the fine. (/O, 21 November and
19 December 1908).

AMOIJEE, Valli—Hawker. Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. Crossed the
Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908, along with 11 others, to claim his
right, under the Transvaal Immigration Restriction Act, to enter the Trans-
vaal. Sentenced to deportation for not producing registration certificate when
demanded. (/0, 15 and 29 August 1908).

ANDALWAR—Sentenced to deportation. (0, 30 April 1910).

ANDREW, David—Schoolmaster, interpreter and clerk in Pietermaritzburg.
Born in South Africa. Roman Catholic. Sentenced in Volksrust to three months
with hard labour for crossing Natal-Transvaal border. (0, 29 January 1910).
Sentenced again to six weeks with hard labour. (0, 14 May 1910).

ANDREW, Harry—Worker at a European factory in the Transvaal. Arrested for
not registering under the Asiatic Act. (10, 9 April 1910).

ANDREW (ANDREWS), John—Waiter. Born in Mauritius. Deported to India
in 1910 from the Transvaal. Returned to Durban. (/0, 23 July; 1 October 1910;
IND REV, June 1910).

ANDREWS, A.M.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 6 February
1909).

ANGLIA, Mahomed Cassim—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

ANNAMALY—In October 1913 Annamaly, Francis Veerasamy and Suppia
Pillay were sentenced to ten days imprisonment with hard labour for hawking
without licence in Johannesburg. On their release, finding that the government
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was no longer arresting hawkers, they proceeded with Manilal Gandhi to the
Natal border, crossed and re-crossed the border and were sentenced on 27
October to three months imprisonment with hard labour. ({0, 22 October and
5 November 1913; 4 March 1914).

ANTHONY, David—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({0, 26 June and 10 July 1909). Sentenced again to three months with hard
labour. (0, 5 March 1910).

ANTHONY, Gabriel—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

ANTHONY, Moses—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

ANTHONY, Peter—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

APPASAMY, L.—of Germiston. Arrested. ({0, 20 February 1909).

APPEN, Narasimha (Nurisumu, Narsoo)—Bottle seller. Arrived in Natal under
Indenture. Employed in Natal during the war in dynamite factory where his
hand was mutilated. Deported to India from the Transvaal. He was then 55.
Returned to Durban. (0, 16 April, 16 July and 1 October 1910).

APPOODOO, Vengatsamy (Venkatsami)—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August
1908 for hawking without licence. (/O, 5 and 12 September 1908).

ARIMUTHU, Kuru—of Pretoria. Sentenced to three months with hard labour
for failing to produce a registration certificate. (/0, 31 July 1909).

ARISAN, Vardrajulu—Worker at Trocadero Restaurant in the Transvaal. Refused
to register under the Asiatic Act as ordered by the employer, resigned and
courted arrest. (0, 9 April 1910).

ARMASOOLAN—Deported in 1910. ({0, 26 February 1910).

ARMOOGAM—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. ({0, 14 January
1911). Released after serving 14 days in prison in Christiana. (/0, 7 November
1911). Then re-crossed the Transvaal border from Bloemfontein, and was
arrested. (/O, 7 November 1911).

ARNACHALAN, Jackson—In prison awaiting trial. (/0, 19 February 1910).

ARNACHELLAM, C.—Owner of Kaffir Eating House. Sentenced to ten days
with hard labour. ({0, 31 October 1908).

AROONACHALAM, C.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908.
(IO, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

ARUMUGAM, D.—Deported from the Transvaal to India. (0, 16 April 1910).

ARUMUGAM, E.—Satyagrahi. (0, 17 June 1911).

ASMAL, Esse—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0, 22 May 1909).

ASVAT (ASWAT), Ebrahim Ismail—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

ASVAT, E. Moosa—of Vereeniging. Merchant. Brother of E.I. Aswat. Sentenced
to 14 days with hard labour for hawking without permit and one month with
hard labour for managing the store of his brother. (/0, 6 and 13 March 1909).
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ASVAT, Mahomed—of Vereeniging. Brother of E.I. Aswat. Sentenced to three
months with hard labour for managing his brother’s store. (0, 13 and 29
March 1909).

AZAKHARIA—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi. (O, 1 February 1908).

BABA, Mahomed—Sentenced to six months with hard labour. (O, 21 November
1908; 13 February 1909).

BADROODEEN, Kajee—Sentenced to three months on 10 February 1909. ({0,
20 February 1909).

BAGAS, Suliman—Sentenced on 20 July 1908, to four days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. (0, 25 July 1908).

BAGAS, Vally Mahomed—Chairman, Pretoria branch of British Indian Associ-
ation. Sentenced to three days with hard labour for trading without grocer’s
licence. (10, 19 September 1908).

BAJINEN—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0, 21 January 1911).

BAKER, Albert—Deported from the Transvaal to India. ({0, 16 April 1910).

BAKER, Francis—Deported from the Transvaal to India. (/O, 16 April 1910).

BALAN, Moonsamy—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (/O, 26 November
1910).

BALBADRAN-—Ordered deported. (10, 16 April 1910).

BANDA, Essop Ahmed—of Heidelberg. Deported. ({0, 27 February 1909).

BANDU, Mprs.—of Germiston. Arrested in 1913 for hawking without licence.
({0, 15 October 1913). She went to Charleston to cross the Transvaal border
to get arrested, but could not court arrest because of the provisional settlement
in January 1914. ({0, 25 February 1914).

BANDHU Etwary, Mrs.—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

BARJORSINGH—See ‘Singh, Barjor.

BAWAZEER, Imam Abdul Kader Salim (Abdool Cadir)—See ‘Biographical
Notes’.

BEG, A.F.G.—of Pretoria. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave the
Transvaal for refusing to register under the Asiatic Act and defied the order.
Sentenced on 10 January 1908 to three months with hard labour. (/0, 11 and
18 January 1908). Released at the end of January after agreement between
Gandhi and General Smuts.

BEG, Chaool—of Pretoria. Picket. ({0, 13 July 1907).

BEG, Ismail Suliman—Solicitor’s clerk. Secretary of Pretoria Committee of
British Indian Association. Arrested. (/O, 4 January 1908).

BEG, Mirza Amir—of Kimberley. Sentenced to three weeks. (0, 31 October and
21 November 1908).

BEGG, Moosa—~Sentenced to three months with hard labour (/O, 14 August
1909).

BEHARI, Mrs.—of Germiston. Arrested in 1913 for hawking without licence.
(IO, 15 October 1913).
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BEHCHAR, Govind—Imprisoned in August 1908. ({0, 8 August 1908).

BELIM—Trader in Christiana. Sentenced to one month for trading without
licence. His servant, Ibrahim Adamji Limda, was also arrested. (/0, 5 September
1908).

BEMAT (BEMATH), Saleji—Sentenced on 21 July 1908, to four days for
hawking without licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the
Asiatic Act. ({0, 25 July 1908).

BENJAMIN, A.—of Barberton. Ordered in January 1918 to leave the Transvaal
for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 1 February 1908). Sentenced to
six weeks with hard labour. ({0, 2 July 1910).

BENJE (BENZE). Sarfoodin—~Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered on 19
January 1908 to leave the Transvaal by 1 February for not registering under the
Asiatic Act. ({0, 25 January 1908). Was not imprisoned because of compromise
with Smuts on 30 January.

BHABHA, Amod Essop—Born in Kholvad, Surat, in 1865. Arrived in South
Africa in 1888. Conducted general dealer’s business in Middleburg. He served a
term of imprisonment during the Satyagraha. Died on 10 July 1933. (Brampaw;
10, 9 January 1909).

BHABHA, Ismail Abrahamji—of Standerton. A trader who lived eight years
in Standerton and 20 years in the Transvaal. Sentenced to 14 days with hard
labour for trading without licence. (/0, 8 and 15 August 1908).

BHABHA, Mahomed Ahmed—of Standerton. Released from prison. ({0, 12
June 1909).

BHAGA—Satyagrahi last phase, 1913.

BHAGA. Kalayan (Kalian)—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0,
20 February 1909). Deported from the Transvaal to India. (/O, 20 February
1909 and 12 February 1910).

BHAGOLIA, E.E.—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days with
hard labour. (/0, 15 August 1908).

BHAGWAN, Dajee—Fisherman of Bronkhorst Spruit, Transvaal. Sentenced to
one month with hard labour for fishing without licence. (0, 3 October 1908).

BHAROODIN, Mahomed Dawood—of Vereeniging. Deported from the Trans-
vaal to Natal. (O, 2 January 1909).

BHAWAN, Lala—of Vereeniging. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (0, 2
January 1909).

BHAWANI—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

BHAYAT, Amod Mahomed—A merchant in Heidelberg and a prominent member
of the Kholvad community. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal in February
1909, he returned to the Transvaal and was sentenced in March to three months
with hard labour. He was again sentenced to three months with hard labour in
February 1910. (O, 20 February and 13 March 1909; 4 June 1910).

BHAYAT, Amod Moosa—See ‘Biographical Notes’.
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BHAYAT, Mahomed Ibrahim—of Standerton. General dealer. Acted as Imam of
Muslim congregation. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. (0, 15 August 1908).

BHIKHA (BHIKA), Fakira (Faquirabhai)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

BHIKHA, Hari—Sentenced on 21 July 1908, to four days for hawking without
licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic Act. ({0,
25 July 1908).

BHIKHA, Jivan—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without licence.
({0, 15 August 1908).

BHIKHA, Odhav—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days in August 1908 for trading
without licence. ({0, 15 August 1908). Was eight times in prison. Deported
from South Africa and landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. (O, 23 July 1910;
IND REV, June 1910).

BHIKJI—A Mahomedan passive resister. (GoLDEN NUMBER OF INDIAN OPINION).

BHIMBHALI, Lalubhai—~Satyagrahi in the first phase. Did not register under
the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days. (10, 18
and 25 January 1908). Was not imprisoned in view of agreement with Smuts
on 30 January.

BHUGWAN, A.—Arrested in November 1913. ({0, 26 November 1913).

BHUGWAN, R.—A leader of the Natal Indian Association. Charged in November
1913 with promoting strike. Charges withdrawn later. (0, 26 November and
7 and 11 December 1913).

BHULA, Vallabh—He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908, along
with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Transvaal Immigration Restriction
Act, to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident. He had permits and regis-
tration certificate under the Peace Preservation Ordinance. He refused to give
thumb impression under the Asiatic Act and was charged in August 1908. (10,
15 August 1908).

BIA, Hoosen—of Pretoria. Picket. (/0, 13 July 1907).

BIHARI, Ram—Satyagrahi, Natal batch. Sentenced to three months on 24
March 1910. ({0, 2 July 1910). After release, stayed at Tolstoy Farm.

BISMITH, Mrs. T.—She was a member of the second batch of eight Trans-
vaal women who went to Natal in order to explain the £3 tax to indentured
workers and encourage them to suspend work until the government undertook
to abolish the tax. They were sentenced in December 1913 to three months with
hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (0, 24 December 1913).

BOB, S.K.—Sentenced to deportation. (0, 12 March 1910).

BODHANIA, Essop Hasan—General dealer. Fined with no option of imprison-
ment. (O, 31 October 1908).

BUDREE, Ahir—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

BUDREE, Sivpujan Sahai—Son of Ahir Budree. Student at Phoenix Settlement.
He was one of sixteen pioneer passive resisters in the third phase of Satyagraha.
They left the Phoenix Settlement on 15 September 1913 and crossed the Trans-
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vaal border. They were sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 1 October 1913).

BUGHWAN, R.—Born in Durban in 1874. Photographer and sportsman. Took
a leading part in the Satyagraha in 1913 and was arrested as one of the Durban
leaders. (Brampaw).

BURJORSINGH—See ‘SINGH, Barjor’.

CACHALIA, Ahmed Mahomed—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

CADWA (KARWA), Mahomed E.—He had been in the Transvaal since 1888.
During the Anglo-Boer War he was a military contractor at Ladysmith. He
returned to the Transvaal with a military column. He was prosecuted on 28
December 1907 for not registering under the Asiatic Act and ordered to leave
the Transvaal. Sentenced to two months for defying the order. Released after
the compromise at the end of January 1908. (/0, 11 and 18 January 1908).

CAJEE, Ebrahim Mahomed—of Pardekop. Storekeeper. Sentenced to five days
with hard labour. (/0, 19 September 1908). Sentenced to fine, with no option
of prison. ({0, 7 November 1908).

CAJEE, M.A.—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days with hard
labour. (0, 15 August 1908).

CAJEE, Mahomed Ahmed—of Heidelberg. Deported. (O, 27 February 1909).

CAMA, Ardeshir Framji—of A.F. Cama & Co. Brother of Nadirshah Cama.
Arrested. ({0, 20 February 1909) Died in 1917. (O, 16 January 1917).

CAMA (CAMAY), Nadirshah Ardeshir—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

CANDASAMY, T.—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without
licence. Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March 1910. (O, 5 and
12 September 1908 and 19 March 1910).

CASMAT, Suliman Mamooji—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10,
13 and 20 March 1909).

CASSIM—of Christiana. Sentenced to six weeks for hawking without licence.
({0, 12 September 1908).

CASSIM, Juma—General dealer. Sentenced to fine, with no prison option. (/0,
31 October 1908).

CHARLES, Percival—Served six weeks with hard labour. (/O, 26 November 1910).

CHELAN (CHELLEN, CHELLAN), Moonoosamy (Moonsamy, Munu-
sawmy)—Natal-born Indian. Waiter at Trocadero restaurant in the Transvaal.
Deported from the Transvaal to Bombay. Returned to Durban but was not
admitted. Returned to Durban again and was admitted. (/0, 2 , 9 and 16 April,
18 June, 16 July and 1 October 1910; InD REV, June 1910).

CHETTI, Govinda—Hawker. Deported to India in 1910. (Ivp Rev, June 1910).

CHETTIAR, A. Varadan—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

CHETTIAR, V. Amirthalinga—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

CHETTY—Arrested in Volksrust and discharged. ({0, 5 November 1913).

CHETTY—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for hawking without
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permit. ({0, 26 September 1908).

CHETTY, A.C.—Son of the Chairman of the Tamil committee. Sentenced on
2 January 1909 to three months with hard labour for not having registered.
({0, 2 January 1909).

CHETTY, A. Francis—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and December 1908.
(IO, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

CHETTY, AV.—Picket. Arrested in December 1908. (/O, 3 October and 26
December 1908).

CHETTY, Appoo—Sentenced in February 1909 to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 2 January and 20 February 1909).

CHETTY, Appu—Arrested. (IO, 26 June 1909).

CHETTY, C.K.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

CHETTY, D.—of Pretoria. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/0, 2 January
1909).

CHETTY, Govindasamy—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal (/0, 13 July 1907 and 1 February
1908). Released from prison on 12 March 1910 after serving three months with
hard labour. (O, 12 March 1910).

CHETTY, Govindasamy (Tommy)—Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 18 December 1909). Deported from the Transvaal to India in
1910; returned to Durban but was sent back to India. (/O, 16 April, 18 June
and 16 July 1910).

CHETTY, K. Govinda—Hawker. Possessed Natal domicile certificate. Deported
from the Transvaal to India. (INp REV, June 1910).

CHETTY, M.R.—of Newcastle. Volunteered for satyagraha. (/0, 22 October 1913).

CHETTY, N.—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909).

CHETTY, N. Tilamanikam—Hawker. Was a picket. Jailed in November 1908
and December 1908. (/O, 3 October, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

CHETTY, P.—Arrested. ({0, 26 June 1909).

CHETTY, Pasupa—Aurrested in 1910. ({0, 19 February 1910).

CHETTY, R.—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and December 1908. (/O, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

CHETTY, R. Annamalay—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, R. Mootuveloo—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and December
1908. ({0, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

CHETTY, R.D.G.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

CHETTY, Raga Chidambura—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in
June 1909. ({0, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, S.—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909). May be same as ‘CHETTY, S.
Appoo’.
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CHETTY, S. Appoo—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in June 1909.
({10, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, A.P. Doorasamy—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with
hard labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907 and 1
February 1908).

CHETTY, S. Narayanasamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in
June 1909. ({0, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, Samynathan Palany—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in
June 1909. ({0, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, T.—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. ({0, 27 August 1910).

CHETTY, V. Chidambura—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in June
1909. (10, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, V. Nadasa (Nadasen)—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and
December 1908. (/0, 21 November and 19 December 1908). Sentenced to
three months with hard labour in June 1909. (O, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, V. Sattayappa—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in June
1909. (10, 10 July 1909).

CHETTY, Veloo—A deportee and jail-bird in the satyagraha in the Transvaal.
He went to Durban in 1913 and secured arrest at the Natal-Transvaal border.
Subsequently released under the agreement between Gandhi and General
Smuts. ({0, 19 February 1910 and 4 March 1914).

CHHANA—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909).

CHHANA, Parbhu—Hawked without licence in Johannesburg, but was not
arrested. (O, 22 October 1913).

CHHANABHALI, Vallbhram—Released from prison in June 1909. ({0, 12 June
1909).

CHHIBA, Gopal—Sentenced in Pretoria to seven days with hard labour. (0,
29 August 1908).

CHHITA, Khushal—Pretoria. Picket. (10, 13 July 1907).

CHILLIA—Aurrested and ordered to be deported. (0, 9 April 1910).

CHINA, George—Shop assistant. Born in Natal. Possessed Natal domicile certifi-
cate. Deported from the Transvaal to India. He was then 20. (O, 16 July 1910;
IND REV, June 1910).

CHINAH—of Boksburg. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. ({0, 26 February
1910).

CHINAN—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in June 1909. (O, 10
July 1909).

CHINANAN, Joe—Deported from the Transvaal to India. ({0, 16 April 1910).

CHINASAMY—Worker at a European cigar factory in the Transvaal. Arrested
for not registering under the Asiatic Act. (0, 9 April 1910).

CHINATHAMBI, V.—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and December 1908.
({0, 21 November, 19 December 1908).
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CHINIAN, R.—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (/0, 27 March 1909).

CHINNA, Joe—Natal-born Indian. Returned to Durban after deportation to
India but was sent back to India. (/0, 18 June 1910).

CHINNIAN, V.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 23 October
1909).

CHOKALINGAM-—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour. ({0, 26
September 1908).

CHRISTOPHER, Albert N.—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

COOK, J.M.S.—Arrested. (IO, 26 June 1909).

COOK, John—=Served a prison sentence. ({0, 23 April 1910).

COOPOOSAMY—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 5 November
1910).

COOVADIA, Ebrahim Saleji—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

COOVADIA, M.S. (may be E.S. Coovadia)—Satyagrahi in the first phase.
Wholesale merchant. Treasurer of British Indian Association in the Transvaal.
He did not register under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal
within 14 days. (0, 18 January 1908).

CUMARAN, S. Moothoo—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. /O,
23 October 1909).

CUPOOSAMY, S.—Deported. (0, 19 March 1910).

DADABHALI E.E.—Satyagrahi, first phase. A merchant, he came to South Africa
in 1897. He did not register under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the
Transvaal within 14 days. ({0, 18 January 1908).

DADAMIA (DADAMIAN), Kajee Kalamian—Fruit agent. He crossed the
Natal-Transvaal border along with Gandhi and several others in March 1910
and claimed the right to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident. He was
sentenced to three months with hard labour for not producing a registration
certificate under the Asiatic Act. He had been sentenced to six weeks with hard
labour in 1908 and six months with hard labour in 1909. ({0, 15 August 1908;
13 and 20 February 1909; 19 March and 2 and 9 April 1910).

DADI, Malek—Sentenced to one month with hard labour in November 1908 and
again in December 1908. (/0, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

DADLANI, K.N.—of Krugersdorp. Arrested and released on bail. (0, 12
September 1908).

DADOO, Mahomed Mamuji—of Krugersdorp. Arrested and released on bail.
({0, 12 September 1908).

DAHYA, Ebrahim Moosa—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to
Natal. (0, 30 January 1909).

DAIJEE, Bhajee Essopji—Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. Sentenced to
one month with hard labour. ({0, 26 September and 3 October 1908).

DAJEE, Kara—of Standerton. Deported. (/O, 27 February 1909).

DALABHBHAI Kunverji—of Johannesburg. Satyagrahi. ({0, 22 October 1913).
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DANIAL, M.—Satyagrahi. ({0, 17 June 1911).

DANIEL—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (/O, 31 December 1910).
Sentenced to six weeks. ({0, 21 January 1911).

DANIEL, Paul—Arrested. ({0, 30 April 1910).

DAVE, N.B.—Chronic invalid. In prison. ({0, 27 March 1909).

DAVE, W.R—Served a term of imprisonment.

DAVID, E.M.—Transferred in April 1910 to Delagoa Bay to be deported to
India. ({0, 6 April 1910).

DAWAD, Hasan Mia—of Johannesburg. Sentenced to seven days with hard
labour. (0, 29 August 1908).

DAWAD, Mahomed—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 12
September 1908).

DAWE, Nanalal—Satyagrahi. (/0, 2 January 1909).

DAWODJEE, Amod—Vereeniging. Jailed in 1908.

DAWOOD, Shaikh—Deported from the Transvaal to India. ({0, 26 February
1910).

DAYA, E.H.—General dealer. Sentenced to fine, with no option of prison. (/0,
31 October 1908).

DAYA, Ismail Essop—General dealer. Sentenced to fine, with no option of prison.
(IO, 31 October 1908).

DAYA, Kika—Served a sentence of imprisonment. (/0, 5 June 1909).

DAYA, Moosa Ismail—General dealer. Sentenced to fine, with no option of
prison. (/0, 31 October 1908).

DAYA, Moosa Sale—General dealer. Sentenced to fine, with no option of prison.
(IO, 31 October 1908).

DAYA, Naran—Ordered in Pretoria to leave the Transvaal by 5 January 1908 for
being without registration certificate. (0, 1 February 1908).

DAYA, Pema—of Standerton. Deported. ({0, 27 February 1909).

DAYAL, Bhawani (Bhawani Dayal Sannyasi)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

DAYAL, Mrs. Bhawani (Jagrani)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

DAYAL, Govan—of Barberton. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (0, 10
April 1909).

DAYAL, Govind—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/O,
30 January 1909).

DENGANWALLAH (DELIGAMWALLAH)—of Heidelberg. Satyagrahi in the
first phase. Sentenced to two months with hard labour for defying order to
leave the Transvaal. (O, 18 and 25 January 1908).

DESAI—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (/O, 12 November 1910).

DESAI, E.I.—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days with hard
labour. (0, 15 August 1908).

DESAI Goolab K.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. He did not register under
the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days. ({0,
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18 January 1908). Sentenced in July 1908 to four days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. (Nav4r, p.317).

DESAI, Goolab Rudra—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal (/0, 13 July 1907 and 1 February
1908).

DESAI Jhinabhai—of Kimberley. He was with Gandhi in Volksrust prison in
1908. He fainted from hard labour. Sentenced in December 1913 to three
months with hard labour for crossing the Cape-Transvaal border at Kimberley.
({0, 10 December 1913).

DESALI K.—of Barberton. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Sentenced to two months.
({0, 25 January 1908).

DESAI, Khurshedji—of Krugersdorp. Arrested and released on bail. ({0, 12
September 1908).

DESAI, Manilal—General dealer. Chief picket, Pretoria, 1907. Satyagrahi in the
first phase. Prosecuted on 28 December 1907 for not registering under the
Asiatic Act. Ordered to leave the Transvaal and defied the order. Released
after the compromise at the end of January 1908. Sentenced to three months
with hard labour. Also sentenced to a fine or another three months with hard
labour. ({0, January 4, 11 and 18, 1908). Released at the end of January after
the compromise.

DESAI, Morarji D.—A Brahmin. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Refused to register
under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days.
Released after the compromise at the end of January.(/O, 18 and 25 January
1908).

DESAI, Pragji Khandubhai—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

DESALI, Purushottamdas—Born in Porbander in 1874. In 1902 he married Anandi
(Anibhen), daughter of Abhechand Amratlal Gandhi (cousin of Gandhi.). He
was in charge of Phoenix School for some time, and assisted with the editing
of the Gujarati section of Indian Opinion. Sentenced on 7 November 1910 to
six months in prison. (PHOENIX CENTENARY, 13).

DEENDAR, Hajee Ismail Mahomed—Born in Kholvad. Arrived in South Africa
in 1889, settled in Johannesburg, Heidelberg, Ermelo and Standerton. Started
a general dealer business. He was active in the Satyagraha of 1913. He served
a term of imprisonment for defying immigration law. He also assisted strikers
with food at Standerton. (BramDAW).

DEVA, Gokal—Imprisoned in August 1908. ({0, 8 August 1908).

DEV]I, Jivanji—Hawked without licence in Johannesburg but was not arrested.
({0, 22 October 1913).

DHANA, Bhaga—Hawked without licence in Johannesburg but was not arrested.
({0, 22 October 1913).

DHANA, Dulabh—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0, 20 February
1909).
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DHOBI, Moonsamy—Deported. ({0, 12 February 1910).

DHOBI, Nagulu—Released from prison. (/0, 25 March 1911).

DHOBI, Kesavan A.—Released from prison. (0, 25 March 1911).

DHOBIE, Samy—Natal-born Indian. Returned to Durban after deportation
from the Transvaal to India but was sent back to India. (/O, 18 June 1910).

DIALA, Chinan—Arrested and ordered to be deported. (/0, 16 April 1910).

DINDAR, Ismail Mahomed—Secretary of the local committee in Standerton.
Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour for trading without licence. (0, 8 and
15 August 1908).

DOOKHIE, N,—of Natal. Sentenced to three months with hard labour in October
1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 22 and 29 October 1913).
DOOWAT, Mrs.—One of six women and ten men who hawked without licence

in Germiston and were arrested in 1913. (/O, 15 October 1913).

DORABJI, Parsi—An old resident of the Transvaal who ‘enjoyed the respect even
of President Kruger. Arrested at Volksrust when he arrived from Natal and
refused to give thumb impression. After much publicity in the newspapers, he
was released and allowed to proceed. (/0, 1 August 1908).

DORASAMY—Released from prison on 15 December 1910. (/O, 24 December
1910).

DORASAMY (P. Daniel)—Deported to India. Returned to South Africa and
landed in Cape Town. (/O, 3 December 1910).

DORASAMY, Shenmugam—of Durban. Crossed Natal-Transvaal border and
was arrested at Volksrust on 27 October 1913. (/O, 5 November 1913).

DORASAMY, V.—]Jailed in November 1908 and December 1908 for hawking,.
(IO, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

DOWD, Ahmed Essop—Arrested in July 1908 for hawking without licence. (10,
25 July 1908; Nav4r, p. 316).

DUKHEE (DOOKIE, DUKHI, DUKBEE)—of Pietermaritzburg. Arrested on
30 November 1913. He was released on bail which was set at two hundred
pounds when he refused to give an undertaking to refrain from taking part
in the movement while on bail. Charges relating to strike in Pietermaritzburg
were withdrawn on instructions from the Attorney-General. (/0, 3 December
1913 and 28 January 1914).

DULABH, Bhana—of Vereeniging. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour.
({0, 22 August 1908).

DULABH, Damodar—DPre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust
after crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/O, 10 October 1908).

DULABH, Daya—Deported. (/0, 14 August 1909).

DULABH, Parag—Sentenced to six months. (0, 6 March 1909).

DULABHBHAI, Kunverji—Hawked without licence in Johannesburg but was
not arrested. (O, 22 October 1913).

DURASAMY, Armugam—Deported from the Transvaal to India and returned
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to Durban. He was not allowed to land. (/O, 1 October 1910).

EBRAHIM, Cassim (Kasim)—Cigar maker. Deported from the Transvaal, and
landed in Colombo. He was then 19. (/0, 30 April and 23 July 1910).

EBRAHIM, Ismail—Sentenced on 21 July 1908, to four days for hawking
without licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic
Act. (10, 25 July 1908)

EBRAHIM, Mahomed—A former Transvaal resident. Crossed Natal-Transvaal
border with Gandhi and others in March 1910. He was then 47 years old. ({0,
19 March 1910).

EBRAHIM, Suliman—A hawker, resident in Johannesburg before the Anglo-Boer
War. He had a Dutch Registration Certificate. He crossed the Natal-Transvaal
border in August 1908, along with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Trans-
vaal Immigration Restriction Act, to enter the Transvaal. He was sentenced to
deportation for not producing a registration certificate when demanded. (1O,
15 and 29 August 1908).

EDWARD, John—Chef at Trocadero restaurant in the Transvaal. Born in Natal
and possessed Natal domicile. Deported from the Transvaal to India. Returned
to Durban and was allowed to land. (O, 2, 9 and 16 April and 18 June 1910).

ELLARY—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 2 July 1910).

ELLARY (ELLERI), Moonsamy—Sentenced to one month with hard labour.
Deported from the Transvaal to India and returned to Durban where he was
allowed to land. ({0, 17 October 1908; 18 June 1910).

EMAMALLY, S.—A leader of Natal Indian Association. Charged in November
1913 with incitement (promoting a strike). Charges withdrawn later. (0, 26
November and 17 December 1913).Elected honorary treasurer of the South
African Indian Congress at its inaugural session in 1923.

ENDROOS—Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered on 19 January 1908 to leave
the Transvaal by 1 February for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 25
January 1908). Was not imprisoned as compromise was reached at the end of
January.

EPHRAIM, Simon—of Newcastle, Natal. Volunteered to resist. (/0, 22 October
1913).

ERNEST, David—Government interpreter. Refused when the Government
ordered him to register under the Asiatic Act. Ordered to leave the Transvaal
within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act. He had been in the
Transvaal for 24 years. He was born in Natal, married in South Africa and had
eight children born in the Transvaal. ({0, 20 July 1907 and 1 February 1908).
Sentenced to three months with hard labour on 15 January 1909. Deported
from the Transvaal to India, and landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. Had Natal
domicile certificate. Returned to Durban and was admitted. (/O, 27 February
1909; 16 April, 23 July and 1 October 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

ERNEST, Frank—Waiter. Born in Natal and possessed Natal domicile certificate.
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Deported from the Transvaal to India, and landed in Colombo on 2 June
1910. Had wife and three children in the Transvaal. Returned to Durban and
was admitted. ({0, 16 April, 23 July and 1 October 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).

ERNEST, Solomon—Son of David Ernest, also a passive resister, born in Johan-
nesburg in 1890. Schoolmaster. Arrested in January 1910 and sentenced to
three months. Served two terms of imprisonment. Prominent sportsman.
Pioneer settler at Tolstoy Farm in 1910. (/O, 29 January, 12 February and 2
April 19105 BrampAW).

ESSACK—Sentenced to six weeks. ({0, 21 January 1911).

ESSACK, Ismail—of Roodepoort. Released from prison in August 1908, rearrested
and sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. Sentenced again in September
1909 to six weeks with hard labour. Deported later in 1909 and sentenced to
three months on re-entering the Transvaal. (0, 18 August , 25 September and
4 December 1909; 1 January 1910).

ESSACK, Mahomed—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal.
({0, 30 January 1909)

ESSAKJEE. Moosa—of Heidelberg. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Sentenced on
17 January 1908, to two months for defying order to leave the Transvaal.
Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour in October 1908. (/O, 18 and 25
January, 31 October and 12 December 1908).

ESSOP, Ahmed—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without licence.
({0, 15 August 1908).

ESSOP, Ismail—Salesman. He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border along with
several others and claimed the right to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident.
He was sentenced to six weeks for not producing a registration certificate under
the Asiatic Act. Sentenced to six months with hard labour in February 1909.
Sentenced to three months with hard labour in 1911; this was his fifth jail term.
Received residential rights in the Transvaal under the provisional settlement of
1911. (O, 15 August 1908; 13 and 20 February 1909; 4 March and 10 June
1911).

ESSOP, Mahomed—Butcher. Sentenced to one month with hard labour in
October 1908. (/0, 31 October 1908).

ESSOP, Moosa—Sentenced on 21 July 1908, to four days for hawking without
licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic Act. ({0,
25 July 1908).

ESSOP, Vahed Ahmed—Sentenced to six months with hard labour in February
1909. (IO, 20 February 1909).

ESSOPJI, Ali—Arrested for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ([0, 12
September 1908).

FAJANDER, Abdul Gafur—Merchant. Acting Chairman of BIA (March 1909).
Sentenced to one month in 1909. Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border with
Gandhi and five others on 26 December 1909. (O, 25 January 1908; 25
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December 1909 and 1 January 1910). A Konkney. Relative of Abdul Gani, the
first Chairman of British Indian Association. (/O, 13 March 1909).

FAKIRA—See ‘BHIKHA, Fakira’.

FAKIRA, E.D.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. (0, 18 January 1908). Sentenced
to seven days with hard labour in March 1909. Sentenced to three months with
hard labour later in 1909. Sentenced in 1910 to deportation. ({0, 27 March
1909; 1 January and 23 April 1910).

FANCY, M.I.—Member of British Indian Association of the Transvaal. Tried
August 1908.

FANCY, M.P.—Honorary Secretary, Hamidia Islamic Society. A wholesale
merchant in Johannesburg, he had been in the Transvaal since 1889. Satyagrahi
in the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908). Sentenced to three months with hard
labour in March 1909.(/0, 27 February, 13 March and 20 March 1909). Greatly
helped passive resistance struggle. (/0, 28 January 1914).

FEROZE, Mulla Bapu—~Parsi from Natal. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour in February 1909. ({0, 27 February 1909).

FRAM]I, Ardeshir—Pretoria. Picket. ({0, 13 July 1907).

FRANCIS—Satyagrahi in the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908). Sentenced to
three months with hard labour in April 1910. (0, 23 April 1910).

FRANCIS, C. Samuel—Cook and barber. Went to Natal in 1896 under inden-
ture. Deported from the Transvaal and arrived in Bombay in July 1910. He had
wife and three children in the Transvaal. (/0, 16 July 1910; InD REV, June 1910).

FRANCIS, Dominic—of Durban. Arrested at Volksrust on 27 October 1913 for
crossing Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 5 November 1913).

FRANCIS, G.S.—of Boksburg. Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18
March 1910. (/O, 5 and 19 March and 24 September 1910).

FRANCIS, Naga—Sentenced in 1909 to three months with hard labour. (0, 2
January and 13 and 20 March 1909).

FRANCIS, Nayanah—Released from prison in June 1909. (O, 12 June 1909).
Deported from the Transvaal to India in 1910. Returned to Durban later in
the year and was admitted. (O, 16 April and 1 October 1910).

FRANCIS, Rajah—Sentenced in June 1909 in Pretoria to three months with hard
labour. (O, 2 January, 20 February, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

FRANCIS, Samuel—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban
and was allowed to land. ({0, 18 June 1910).

FRANCIS, Veerasamy (Vera)—See VEERASAMY, Francis’.

FRANK, E.E.J.—Released in July 1909 and rearrested. ({0, 17 July 1909).

GABRIEL, Louis—Waiter. Deported from the Transvaal and arrived in Colombo
on 2 June 1910. He was then 16. Returned to Durban, was not allowed to land
and sent to Port Elizabeth. (10, 23 July and 1 October 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).
Crossed the Transvaal border from the Cape and was arrested in Christiana.
(IO, 3 December 1910).
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GANDEV], Khatri Damodar Durlabb—Awaiting trial. (/O, 17 October 1908).

GANGARAM, Babu—Pretoria. Picket. Charged at the end of December 1907
with not registering under the Asiatic Act. He told the Court that the Act was
not a law for human beings but for dogs. They could send him to prison or cut
him to pieces but he would not register. (0, 13 July 1907; 4 January 1908).

GANDHI, Chhaganlal Khushalchand—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

GANDHI, Gokuldas P.—He arrived in Natal around 1896 and lived in Tongaat.
Led a party of passive resisters from Tongaat district in 1913. Released on 6
January 1914. (IO, 7 January and 2 September 1914).

GANDHI, Harilal Mohandas—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

GANDHI, Jamnadas Khushalchand—Son of Khushalchand Gandhi and
youngest brother of Chhaganlal and Maganlal. Close friend of Manilal Gandhi.
Sentenced in December 1913 to three months for crossing Cape-Transvaal
border near Kimberley. Released from Port Elizabeth prison on 10 February
1914. Later went to India and became principal of Rajkot Rashtriya Shala
(national school). (O, 10 December 1913 and 18 February 1914).

GANDHI, Kalidas—Tongaat, Natal. Satyagrahi. ({0, 8 October 1911).

GANDH]I, Mrs. Kashi Chhaganlal—She was one of sixteen pioneer passive resisters
in the third phase of Satyagraha. They left the Phoenix Settlement on 15
September 1913, and crossed the Transvaal border. They were sentenced on 23
September to three months with hard labour. ({0, 1 October 1913).

GANDHI, Mrs. Kasturba Kapadia—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

GANDHI, Manilal Mohandas—See ‘Biographical Notes'’.

GANDHI, Mohandas Karamchand—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

GANDHI, Ramdas Mohandas—Third son of Gandhi. He was one of sixteen
pioneer passive resisters in the third phase of Satyagraha. They left the Phoenix
Settlement on 15 September 1913, and crossed the Transvaal border. They were
sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard labour. (0, 1 October
1913). Went on a hunger strike against conditions in the Pietermaritzburg prison.

GANDHI, Mrs. Santok Maganlal—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

GANGARAM (GUNGARAM), Babu—of Pretoria. Satyagrahi in the first phase.
Did not register under the Asiatic Act. Ordered to leave the Transvaal and
defied the order. Sentenced to three months with hard labour. Also sentenced to
a fine or another three months with hard labour. Released after the provisional
settlement at the end of January 1908. ({0, 4, 11 and 18 January 1908).

GANI (GANIE), Abdul—First Chairman of British Indian Association of the
Transvaal. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Arrested on 22 January 1908 and
remanded. Released after provisional settlement at the end of January 1908.
({0, 25 January 1908).

GARDIE (GARDI), Jussab Ebrahim—~Satyagrahi in the first phase. Did not
register under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within
14 days. Released after compromise at the end of January 1908. (O, 18 and
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25 January 1908).

GHELA, Lallu—Imprisoned in August 1908. ({0, 8 August 1908).

GHELANI, Manjee Nathubai—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
(IO, 27 March 1909).

GHELANI, Mohan Manju—Sentenced in January 1910 to ten days with hard
labour for hawking without licence. He was under 16 and had already served
a term of imprisonment. (/0, 22 January 1910).

GOKALDA—Satyagrahi in 1913. Released in December 1913. ({0, 24 December
1913).

GOKUL, Amershi—of Pietersburg. Appeared in Court on 28 December 1907
for not registering under the Asiatic Act. Ordered to leave the Transvaal within
four days. ({0, 4 January 1908).

GOKULDAS, Pujari—One of six women and ten men who hawked without
licence in Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. (/0, 15 October 1913).

GOOLAB, Keshav—Sentenced on 21 July 1908 to four days for hawking without
licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic Act. ({0,
25 July 1908)

GOPAL, K.—of Pretoria. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0, 2 January
1909).

GOPAL, N.—of Pretoria. Brother-in-law of G.P. Vyas. Sentenced in June 1909 to
three months with hard labour. Sentenced again in October 1909 to three months
with hard labour. ({0, 20 February, 26 June, 10 July and 23 October 1909).

GOPAL, N.—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard labour for
defying order to leave the Transvaal ({0, 13 July 1907; 1 February 1908).

GOPAL, R.—Released after seven days with hard labour. Rearrested, sentenced
to 3 months. (/O, 4 December 1909).

GOPALJI, Ranchodji—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal.
(10, 30 January 1909).

GOPAUL, Leo Rajah—Born in Pietermaritzburg. “Was a strong passive resister
during the strike of 1913.” (BrampAw).

GOSHALIA, Mohanlal Narbheram.—Bookkeeper and interpreter in Nartal.
After passing the education test in Natal and the Transvaal, he crossed the
Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908, along with 11 others, to claim his right
as an educated person, under the Transvaal Immigration Restriction Act, to
enter the Transvaal. He refused to register under the Asiatic Act. Sentenced to
four months with hard labour. (/O, 16 and 29 August and 31 October 1908)

GOVIND, Narotam—Discharged with warning for hawking without licence. He
was only 12-years-old. (O, 11 September 1909).

GOVIND, Morar—of Windsorton. Sentenced in December 1913 to three months
with hard labour for crossing Cape-Transvaal border near Kimberley. (70, 10
December 1913).

GOVINDA, Sinia—Arrested. (/O, 5 and 12 March 1910).
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GOVINDAN, Chinna—Laundryman. Went to Natal around 1893 under inden-
ture. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay in July 1910. ({0, 16
July 19105 Inp REV, June 1910).

GOVINDARAJULU, V—Student at Phoenix Settlement. He was one of
sixteen pioneer passive resisters in 1913. They left the Phoenix Settlement on
15 September and crossed the Transvaal border. They were sentenced on 23
September to three months with hard labour. (/O, 1 October 1913).

GOVINDASAMY, L.—Deported from the Transvaal to India. ({0, 16 April 1910).

GOVINDASAMY, Muthu—Cigar maker. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived
in Bombay in July 1910. He was 17. (0, 16 July 1910).

GOVINDASAMY, Tommy—Transferred in April 1910 to Delagoa Bay to be
deported to India. (JO, 16 April 1910).

GOVINDEN—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 5 November
1910).

GOVINDEN, K.—Deported from the Transvaal to India. Returned to Durban,
was not allowed to land and was sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

GOVINDEN, M.—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
Age 60. ({0, 10 July 1909).

GOVINDER, Chinia—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March 1910.
Returned to Durban, was not allowed to land and was sent to Port Elizabeth.
({0, 19 March and 1 October 1910).—Played a splendid role in the movement.
({0, 18 April 1908).

GOVINDJEE—Sentenced to three months with hard labour for managing E.I.
Aswat’s store without licence. ({0, 29 May 1909).

GOVINDJEE, Gokaldas—Passive resister. Remanded. (/O, 5 September 1908).

GOVINDOO, Rugoo (Raju) (Master Govindrajulu) (RAJOO, Govindaswami)
(Govindoo Samy)—Worked for the railways as messenger, and then as a house
servant in Umkomaas before starting employment at the International Printing
Press. One of the founding settlers at Phoenix, was in charge of the machinery,
printing and binding. Was a compositor as well. Student at Phoenix Settlement.
He was one of sixteen pioneer passive resisters in 1913. They left the Phoenix
Settlement on 15 September 1913, and crossed the Transvaal border. They were
sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard labour. (/0, 1 October
1913; PHOENIX CENTENARY).

GOVINDRAM, Goolabdas (Gulabhdas)—of Germiston. Priest in charge of
the Hindu temple in Germiston. Arrested for hawking without licence. Left
Germiston for Newcastle at the commencement of the strike, together with
Bhawani Dayal, Raghubar and Sivaprasad. They were arrested while moving
among the indentured labourers and sentenced to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 15 October 1913; 4 March 1914). Discharged from Durban Central
jail on 19 January 1914. Was in hospital for the last few weeks of imprisonment.
({0, 21 January 1914).
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GOVINDSAMY—Worker at a European factory in the Transvaal. Arrested for
not registering under the Asiatic Act. (10, 9 April 1910).

GOVINDSAMY—Deported to Mauritius. ({0, 25 June 1910).

GOVINDSAMY, Ganpathy—Released from prison. (/0, 10 December 1910).

GOVINDU, N.—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (/O, 31 October
1908).

GULAL, Keshav—Sentenced on 21 July 1908 to four days for hawking without
licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic Act. (NAvAR,
pp- 315-10).

GURAPPA, Balbader—Machine driver. Went to Natal under indenture. Deported
from the Transvaal. Landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. (/0, 23 July 1910).

GURUNATHAN-—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for hawking
without licence. ({0, 26 September 1908).

HAJURASINGH (HAZARASINGH, HAZURASINGH)—See ‘SINGH,
Babu Hazura’.

HALIM, Ahmed—Storekeeper. Was in South Africa since about 1888, and in
the Transvaal since about 1895. Satyagrahi in the first phase. (/0, 18 January
1908). Sentenced to three months with hard labour in March 1909. (/0, 13
and 20 March 1909).

HANIFA Bibi—Mother of Mrs. Sheikh Mehtab. Sentenced to three months with
hard labour. (O, 14 January 1914). See ‘ MEHTAB, Mrs. Sheikh.’

HANSRA]J, Gokuldas—Student at Phoenix Settlement. Member of pioneer party
of resisters from Phoenix Settlement in 1913. Sentenced on 23 September to
three months with hard labour. He was then not yet 18. (O, 1 October and
24 December 1913).

HARLI, Soni Valji—Released from prison and rearrested. (0, 5 June 1909).

HARRY, Lazarus—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. Released from
prison in March 1910. (O, 25 December 1909; 19 March 1910).

HASSAN, Adam—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (/0, 27 March 1909).

HASSAN, Moosa—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal by noon on 31 January 1908. (/0, 25 January 1908).

HASSAN, Suleman—XKrugersdorp hawker. Sentenced to one day for hawking
without a licence. ({0, 12 September 1908).

HAZURASINGH—See ‘SINGH, Hazura’.

HEMANDAS—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave
the Transvaal by noon on 31 January 1908. (/O, 25 January 1908).

HOOSAIN, Suliman—Arrested. ({0, 25 December 1909).

HOOSEN, Adam—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (O, 21 November
and 19 December 1908).

HOOSEN, Ebrahim—DPre-war resident of the Transvaal. Sentenced to six months
with hard labour in February 1909. ({0, 15 August 1908; 13 and 20 February
1909).
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HOOSEN, Ibrahim—Arrested. He had started a hair-cutting saloon. (O, 8
January 1910).

HOOSEN, Valli—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without licence.
But released when government found he had a licence. ({0, 15 August 1908).

HURBATSINGH (HARBATSINGH)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

HUSSEIN, Ibrahim—Ordered to be deported. (0, 5 September 1908).

HYAKVATRI, Narainsamy—Awaiting deportation from the Transvaal. (0, 30
April 1910).

IBRAHIM—Butcher. Sentenced in August 1908 to eight days for trading without
licence. (10, 29 August 1908).

IBRAHIM, Ismail—Wholesale and retail merchant in Pretoria. Satyagrahi in the
first phase. Did not register under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the
Transvaal within 14 days. ({0, 18 January 1908).

ICHHARAM, Dulabh—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days
with hard labour. (/0, 15 August 1908).

ICHHARAM, Ranchhod—Satyagrahi in the first phase. Did not register under
the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days. (O, 18
and 25 January 1908).

IKEE—of Krugersdorp. Laundryman. Sentenced to three days with hard labour.
({0, 19 September 1908).

ISAAC (ISAACS), A.D.—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and was admitted. (/O, 16 and 30 April, and 1 October 1910).

ISAAC, Dorasamy—Waiter. Deported from the Transvaal to India and landed in
Colombo on 2 June 1910. ({0, 23 July 19105 INp REV, June 1910).

ISAAC, Gabriel—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

ISMAIL, Alibhai—]Johannesburg trader. Sentenced to fine without option of
prison. ({0, 21 November 1908).

ISMAIL, Ebrahim—of Vereeniging. Sentenced on 20 July 1908, to four days
with hard labour for hawking without licence. He paid licence fee but refused
to register under the Asiatic Act. (Navar, p. 317).

ISMAIL, Moosa—of Vereeniging. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0, 2
January 1909).

ISMAIL, Suliman—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/0,
30 January 1909).

ISMAIL, Suliman—of Barberton. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/0,
10 April 1909).

ISSOP, Usop—Picket. (0, 3 October 1908).

IYAKUTTY, Narayanasamy—Laundryman. Deported from the Transvaal.
Landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. ({0, 23 July 1910).

JACKSON, HV.—Transferred on 9 April 1910, to Delagoa Bay to be deported
to India. (O, 16 April 1910).

JAFFER. Ali—Butcher. Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (/O, 31
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October 1908).

JAMAL, Ebrahim—of Johannesburg. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour.
({0, 29 August 1908).

JAMES, Moses—of Heath’s Hotel, Transvaal. Arrested on 15 April 1910 and
ordered to be deported. (10, 16 April 1910).

JAMES, R.D.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 14 August
1909).

JAMES, RT.—Arrested. ({0, 30 April 1910).

JAMESON, Robert—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without
licence. (10, 5 and 12 September 1908).

JAN, Baba—General dealer. Sentenced to fine, with no option of prison. (/0, 31
October 1908).

JAN, Baba—Butcher. Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (/O, 31 October
1908).

JANAKI—of Tongaat. Former indentured labourer paying three pound tax.
Satyagrahi in the last phase. Discharged from Durban jail on 6 January 1914.
(10, 8 October 1913; 7 January 1914).

JEAN, Ismail—of Heidelberg. Storekeeper. Sentenced to five pounds without
option of prison. (/0, 29 August 1908).

JEEVANJEE—of Transvaal. He went to Natal in November 1913 and did useful
work in Phoenix and Durban, but was not successful in getting arrested. (/0,
4 March 1914).

JERAM, Narsi—Businessman of Johannesburg. Ordered to leave the Transvaal
within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act. He had been in the
Transvaal for 12 years. ({0, 1 February 1908).

JHINA, Rahim—Sentenced in December 1913 to three months with hard labour
for crossing Cape-Transvaal border near Kimberley. (/0, 10 December 1913).

JHINABHAI—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (O, 17 October 1908).

JHINNABHAI (CHHANABHAI), Vallabhram—Sentenced to three months
with hard labour in March 1909 for crossing the Transvaal border. ({0, 27
February, 6, 13 and 20 March 1909). See also ‘VALLABHRAM’.

JIGA, Osman—of Potchefstroom. Ordered to leave the Transvaal by the end of
January 1908 for being without registration certificate. (0, 1 February 1908).

JIMMY—of Barberton. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Sentenced to two months.
({0, 25 January 1908).

JIMMEY, M.—Transferred from the Transvaal to Delagoa Bay to be deported
to India. (O, 16 April 1910).

JIMMY, V.M.—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (0,
10 July 1909).

JIVAN, Dhobee—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (0, 2 January 1909).

JIVAN, Magan—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for hawking without
licence. (10, 26 September 1908).
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JOE, Chinniah—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to Durban and
was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

JOGI, Karsan (Karson)—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust
after crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. Sentenced to one month with hard
labour. ({0, 10 and 17 October 1908).

JOHAN, Aron—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (0,
10 July 1909).

JOHN—Sentenced to six weeks imprisonment. ({0, 5 and 12 March 1910).

JOHN, Aaron—Teacher employed in Transvaal Government school. Born in
the Transvaal. Was in jail. Deported to India from the Transvaal. Landed in
Colombo on 2 June 1910. Returned to Durban and was admitted. (0, 16 April,
23 July and 1 October 1910).

JOHN, C.—Aurrested. ({0, 30 April 1910).

JOHN, C.C.—Satyagrahi. (0, 17 June 1911).

JOHN, Rome—Arrested. ({0, 26 June 1909).

JOOMA, Ismail—Satyagrahi in the first phase. Did not register under the Asiatic
Act. Ordered to leave the Transvaal and defied the order. Sentenced to three
months with hard labour. Released after the provisional settlement at the end
of January 1908. ({0, 11 and 18 January 1908).

JOOMA, Valli—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. Passive resister. ({0, 29 August,
5 and 12 September 1908).

JOOTY, G.S.—of Boksburg. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. (IO, 26
February 1910).

JOSEPH, Samuel—Sentenced in Volksrust in January 1910 to three months with
hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. Sentenced to six weeks
with hard labour in May 1910. Mr. Joseph, a nephew of Joseph Royeppen, was
born in South Africa. He was headmaster of the Seaview School, Durban, and
an organist in a Native Protestant Church. (0, 25 December 1909; 29 January
and 14 and 27 May 1910).

JOSEY—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing Natal-Transvaal
border. (IO, 31 December 1913).

JOSHI, Harishanker Ishwar—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

JOSHI, Mohanlal—An interpreter in the court at Pretoria. Dismissed by the
Government for failing to register under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 21 December
1907)

JUMA, Ismail—of Pretoria. Sentenced to three days with hard labour. (0, 19
September 1908).

JUTHA, Tulsi—See ‘SONI, Tulsi Jutha °.

KABABODY—Released from prison. ({0, 13 August 1910).

KABUTHAR, Mrs.—She was a member of the second batch of eight Trans-
vaal women who went to Natal in order to explain the £3 tax to indentured
workers and encourage them to suspend work until the government undertook
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to abolish the tax. They were sentenced in December 1913 to three months with
hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (0, 24 December 1913).

KADAN, Bhikha—Satyagrahi. ({0, 17 October 1908).

KADIR, Ebrahim—of Windsorton. Sentenced in December 1913 to three months
with hard labour for crossing the Cape-Transvaal border near Kimberley. (70,
10 December 1913).

KAJEE, Abdul Hak—See ‘KAZI, Abdul Hack’.

KAJI, Ismail—Arrested and released on bail. (0, 12 September 1908).

KALA, Jagjivan—Deported from the Transvaal to India. (/O, 12 February 1910).

KALAN, Sana—Hawked in Johannesburg without licence, but was not arrested.
({0, 5 November 1913)

KALIAN, Bhika—Charged for not producing a registration certificate on demand
after crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. Detained and deported. (/0, 15 and
29 August 1908).

KAMBODI, Veeraswamy—Returned from deportation to India from the Trans-
vaal and allowed to land in Durban. ({0, 18 June 1910).

KANAGAPADIACHY, Manpadiachi—Bottle seller. Deported from the Trans-
vaal and arrived in Bombay. ({0, 16 July 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).

KANDASAMY, S.—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and December 1908. (10,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

KAN]JI, Morar—of Johannesburg. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour in
July 1908 for hawking without licence. ({0, 1 August 1908). Hawked without
licence but was not arrested. (/O, 22 October 1913).

KANUMIA, Hassan Suliman—of Middelburg. Released early due to permanent
ill-health. (hysteria). ({0, 15 May 1909).

KARA—Sentenced. (IO, 4 March 1911).

KARA, Gopaljee—Sentenced to six months with hard labour. (0, 20 February
1909).

KARA, Suka—Released from prison. (0, 5 June 1909).

KARIM, Abdul—of Tongaat. Satyagrahi in the last phase. Discharged from
Durban jail on 6 January 1914. (O, 7 January 1914).

KARODIA, Ahmed—Merchant. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave
the Transvaal within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 25
January 1908).

KARSON]JI, Mawji—Former member of the Indian Army and pre-war resident
of the Transvaal. Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (/O, 17 October
1908).

KARUPEN—Awaiting trial. ({0, 19 February 1910).

KASSAM (KASSAN), Bhika (Beekah)—Sentenced to three months with hard
labour in June 1909. (/0, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

KATHIA—Laundryman. Born in Natal and had Natal Domicile Certificate.
Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. Wife and child were in the
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Transvaal. He was then 25. ({0, 16 July 1910).

KAYAT, Moosa Ismail—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 6
February 1909).

KAZI, Abdul Hack—A leader of Natal Indian Association. Charged on 19
November 1913 with promoting strike (incitement). Charges were withdrawn
later. (/O, 26 November and 17 December 1913).

KAZI, Ebrahim—Trader. Went to prison after transferring his business to a
white. ({0, 9 January 1909).

KAZI, Ismail—of Krugersdorp. Arrested and released on bail. (/0, 12 September
1908).

KAZI, Kalkmia Dadamia—]Jailed in 1909.

KESHAYV, Bhikha—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0,
30 January 1909).

KHAN, Dildar—He worked for a firm of European wholesale merchants.
Dismissed in 1908 for refusing to accept the Asiatic Act. He was elected Acting
Chairman of Transvaal British Indian Association in March 1909. (IO, 29
August 1908; 28 March 1909).

KHAN, Hajee Adam—Sentenced to six months with hard labour. (/0, 11 June
1910).

KHAN, Jamadar Nawab—=See ‘Biographical Notes’.

KHAN, Mahomed—Brother of Dildar Khan. Picket. Sentenced to two months
with hard labour. ({0, 3 October 1908; 15 May and 17 July 1909).

KHAN, Meer Allam (Mir Alam)—A Pathan mattress weaver. He went to the
Transvaal with the British forces during the Anglo-Boer War. He received a
certificate of appreciation for his services and was allowed residence in the
Transvaal. He assaulted Gandhi in February 1908 for signing an agreement
with General Smuts for voluntary registration, but later became a friend of
Gandhi. He was deported to India in 1909 for refusing to register under the
Asiatic Act. ({0, 1 May and 26 June 1909).

KHAN, Rahim—Arrested with Gandhi at Standerton on 9 November 1913,
during the Great March and charged with incitement. Sentenced to six months
with hard labour, suspended for 12 months. (0, 19 November 1913).

KHAN, S. Bob—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in Volksrust in
December 1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (O, 31 December
1913).

KHAN, Samandar—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

KHANDABHAI (KHANDOOBHALI), Jhinabhai—Storekeeper. Was in the
Transvaal since about 1894 and stayed on during the Anglo-Boer War.
Satyagrahi in the first phase. (0, 18 January 1908).

KHANDERIA, M.M.—of Pietersburg. Prosecuted in December 1907 for not
registering under the Asiatic Act and ordered to leave the Transvaal within four
days. ({0, 28 December 1907; 4 January 1908).
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KHARWA, Hajee Ismail Amod—Born in Surat in 1886. Arrived in South Africa
in 1893. Businessman. A leader of the Natal Indian Congress. Took active part
in the Satyagraha in 1913. (Brampaw).

KHOJA, Anandji—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard labour
for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907; 1 February 1908).

KHUSHAL, Dulabh—Sentenced on 25 January 1909 to 21 days for trading
without licence. ({0, 30 January 1909).

KILLAVALA (KILLIWALA), Mohanlal Parmandas—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

KISTAPPA—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to Durban and was
admitted. (O, 23 April and 1 October 1910).

KISTEN, Samy—Deported to India from the Transvaal on 18 March 1910. ({0,
19 March 1910).

KISTEN, Venkatsamy—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).
Released from prison, 15 December 1910. (O, 24 December 1910).

KISTNAPAH—Awaiting deportation. (/0, 30 April 1910).

KISTNASAMY, Govindasamy—Sentenced in July 1908 to seven days with hard
labour for hawking without licence. (0, 1 August 1908).

KOLANDAVILLE—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban
and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

KOLIA, Essop Moosa—A former Transvaal resident. Crossed Natal-Transvaal
border with Gandhi and 11 others in March 1910. Sentenced on 24 March
1910 to three months with hard labour. He was about 35 years of age. (10, 19
March and 9 April 1910).

KOMBODI, Veerasamy—Laundryman. Went to Natal under indenture.
Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. He had wife and two chil-
dren in the Transvaal. (O, 16 July 1910; Ivp REv, June 1910). See ‘Kambodi,
Veeraswamy’ above.

KONKNI, Mahomed Hoosen—He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in August
1908, along with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Transvaal Immi-
gration Restriction Act, to enter the Transvaal. Sentenced to deportation for
not producing registration certificate when demanded. (/O, 15 and 29 August
1908).

KOOPERSAMY, T.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

KOTHARA, Amod—Sentenced in July 1908 to 14 days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. He had already served two terms in prison. ({0, 15
August 1908).

KOTHARI, Mawji Karsanji—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. (0, 10 October
1908).

KRASHANA, N.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (O, 21
November and 19 December 1908).
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KRISHNA, Sabapathy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (O, 16 July and 1
October 1910).

KRISHNA, Venkatasawmi—General dealer. Deported from the Transvaal to
India in 1910. (Inp REV, June 1910).

KRISHNAN, S.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 23 October
1909).

KRISHNAN, Sabapathy—Laundryman. Deported from the Transvaal. (INp Rev,
June 1910).

KRISHNASAMY—of Johannesburg. Hawked without licence but not arrested.
({0, 22 October 1913).

KRISNASAMY, V.—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban,
not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

KRISTNAN, S.—Awaiting trial. (/0, 19 February 1910).

KUBER, Parbhoo—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 27 March
1909).

KUMARAN, Moothoo—Released from prison. ({0, 22 January 1910).

KUMARASAMY—Released from prison. ({0, 25 March 1911).

KUMARSWAMY—Deported from the Transvaal. (/O, 19 March 1910).

KUNKEY (KUNKE), Mahomed Ebrahim—Merchant. Konkani. Veteran passive
resister. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14
days for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 25 January 1908). Sentenced
on 22 July 1908 to four days with hard labour for hawking without a licence.
({0, 25 July and 3 October 1908). Sentenced to three months in November
1909. ({0, 20 November 1909). Went to Natal in 1913 and succeeded in being
arrested at Volksrust where he received the usual sentence of three months
with hard labour on 12 December. (Navar, p. 317; 10, 17 December 1913; 4
March 1914).

KUPPUSAMY, Subramania—Hawker. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in
Bombay. (0, 16 July 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

KURRIAN, R.M.—of Newcastle. Volunteered to resist. (/O, 22 October 1913).

KURSONYJI, Vasanji—General dealer. Sentenced to a fine, with no option of
prison. (/0, 31 October 1908).

LADHA, Valjee—]Jeweller. Charged for refusing to give thumb-print. (/0, 5
September 1908).

LADHASINGH—of Boksburg. Ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days
for non-possession of registration certificate. First to be prosecuted in Boksburg
under the Asiatic Registration Act. (/0, 1 February 1908).

LALA, Dajee—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 20 February
1909).

LALA, Ruddhia—Krugersdorp. Ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days.
({0, 1 February 1908).
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LALA, Vasan—DPre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust after
crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/0, 10 October 1908).

LALBIGUDU—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban and
was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

LALLA, Bhika—Ordered in Pretoria to leave the Transvaal by 5 January 1908
for being without registration certificate. ({0, 1 February 1908).

LATCHIGADU—Gardener. Went to Natal under contract. Deported from the
Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. (/0, 16 July 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).

LATCHMAN, Frank—Picket. Charged on 13 November 1907 with incitement
and assault—for threatening an Indian who wished to register. Charges with-
drawn when the Indian denied assault. (/O, 23 November 1907; Navar, p. 1306).

LATCHMANAN-—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913. (0, 31 December
1913).

LATCHMANAN-—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).

LAZARUS, Anthony Orlappan—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned
to Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

LAZARUS, Arulapurn (Arulappen) John—Deportee from the Transvaal, landed
in Bombay in May 1910. Then 14, with mother in Johannesburg. Returned
to Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (O, 16 July and 1
October 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

LAZARUS, Arulappen Willy—Brother of John (above). Cigar-maker. Deported
from the Transvaal to India in 1910. Landed in Bombay in May. Then 19. ({0,
16 July 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

LAZARUS, Dick T.—Arrested. ({0, 30 April 1910).

LAZARUS, Ellapan Willy—Worker at a European factory in the Transvaal.
Arrested for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 9 April 1910).

LAZARUS, Harry— Waiter. Born in the Cape. Possessed Natal domicile certifi-
cate. Had been in jail. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2
June 1910. Returned to Durban and was admitted. (/O, 16 April, 23 July and
1 October 1910; INp RV, June 1910).

LAZARUS, ILM.—Member of Natal Indian Association. Charged on 19
November with abetting the strike of Indian workers. (0, 26 November 1913).
Charges were withdrawn later.

LAZARUS, ]J.H.—A leader of Natal Indian Association. Charged in November
1913 with promotion of strike (incitement). Charges withdrawn later. (10, 26
November and 17 December 1913). See ‘LAZARUS, Jesudason’ below.

LAZARUS, Jesudason (Dossen)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

LAZARUS, John—Worker at a European cigar factory in the Transvaal. Arrested
and transferred to Delagoa Bay on 9 April 1910 for deportation to India. (/O,
9 and 16 April 1910).

LAZARUS, Willie—Natal-born Indian. Deported from the Transvaal to India.
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Returned to Durban and was sent back to India; admitted when returned to
Durban again. ({0, 16 April, 18 June and 1 October 1910).

LAZARUS, W.B.—of Natal. Charged with promoting strike and inciting violence.
({0, 17 December 1913). Charges withdrawn later.

LETCEY—Transferred from the Transvaal to Delagoa Bay for deportation to
India. ({0, 16 April 1910).

LETCHYMANAM—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

LIMBAR, Ebrahim—Satyagrahi. Of Christiana. (0, September 1908).

LIMDA, Ibrahim—of Christiana. Sentenced to six weeks for carrying on trade
without a licence. ({0, 12 September 1908). See ‘BELIM.

LINGAM, V.—Deported to India from the Transvaal. Returned to Durban,
not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/0, 16 and 30 April, and 1
October 1910).

LINGHAM—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (/O, 31 December
1910).

LUCHIGADU—Released aftersixweekswith hard labour. (/O, 26 November 1910).

LUCHMAN, Pugna—Arrested. (0, 30 April 1910).

LUTCHMAN-—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban, not
allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 11 June and 1 October 1910).

LUTCHMAN—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 5 November
1910).

MADRIMUTHU—Played a splendid role in the movement. ({0, 18 April
1908). See MADURAMUTHOO’ below.

MADURALI Philip—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. Released after
serving 14 days in prison. Then crossed the Transvaal border from Bloemfontein
and was arrested. ({0, 7 and 14 January and 7 November 1911).

MADURAMUTHOO—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 5
November 1910).

MADURAMUTHU—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

MAHABEER, Mrs.—Imprisoned for three months.

MAHARAJ, Behareelal—Arrested with Gandhi at Standerton on 9 November
1913, during the ‘Great March’ and charged with incitement. Sentenced to six
months with hard labour, suspended for 12 months. (0, 19 November 1913).

MAHARAJ] (MAHRAGE), Baboolal—Born in Port Elizabeth on 17 June 1884.
Businessman and property owner. Took part in the Satyagraha and served a
term of imprisonment of three months. Sentenced in June 1909 to three months
with hard labour. Died in Pretoria, 1935. ({0, 10 July 1909).

MAHARA]J, Gayadin—of Durban. Arrested at Volksrust on 27 October 1913
for crossing Natal-Transvaal border. (/O, 5 November 1913).

MAHARAJ, Gaysidin—Satyagrahi from Germiston. 1913. (/0, 15 October 1913).
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MAHARA] (MAHARAJAH), Mrs. Gaysidin—of Germiston. One of six women
and ten men who hawked without licence in Germiston in October 1913, and
got arrested. ({0, 15 October 1913).

MAHOMED, Adam Hajee Gool—of Cape Town. President of the Cape British
Indian League. He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908, along
with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Transvaal Immigration Restriction
Act, to enter the Transvaal. Sentenced to deportation for not producing registra-
tion certificate when demanded. (/0, 31 August 1907; 15 and 29 August 1908).

MAHOMED, Alibhai—‘Played a splendid role in the movement.” (/O, 18 April
1908).

MAHOMED, Alli—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for refusing to give
thumb impressions. ({0, 29 August and 5 September 1908).

MAHOMED, Hajee Dawad (Dawood)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MAHOMED, Essop—of Roodepoort. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour
for trading without licence. (/0, 17 October 1908).

MAHOMED, Essopjee—14-year-old boy. Satyagrahi. ({0, 12 September 1908).

MAHOMED, Goolam —Mine labourer. Age 35. Went to Transvaal in 1900 with the
Indian Army and received military discharge entitling him to residence in South
Africa. Charged in December 1907 for not producing the registration certificate.
Deported to India. ({0, 4 January 1908; 16 April 1910; IND Rev, June 1910).

MAHOMED, Ismail—General dealer of Standerton. Sentenced to 14 days with
hard labour. (/0, 15 August 1908).

MAHOMED, Kasim—of Boksburg. Mine labourer. Went under indenture to
Natal. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. Deported from Transvaal to
Natal. Deported from the Transvaal to Delagoa Bay on 18 March 1910. Arrived
in Bombay in July 1910. (/O, 26 February, 5 and 19 March and 16 July 1910;
IND REV, June 1910).

MAHOMED, Lal—Arrested in Volksrust for crossing the Transvaal border and
discharged. (0, 5 November 1913).

MAHOMED, Moosajee—Picket. (/0, 25 January 1908).

MAHOMED, Vally—of Pretoria. Picket. Was in Pretoria prison for five days in
1907. ({0, 13 July 1907).

MAIMEE (MAIMY), Ismail Amod—Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. (O, 6 February 1909).

MAIMUTHU, David—Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. (10,
16 July 1910).

MAKAN, Morar—DPre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust after
crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/0, 10 October 1908).

MALIHA, Bhikhubhai Dayalji—Served with notice to leave the Transvaal for
not submitting to the Asiatic Act. (/0, 29 August 1908).

MALLINGAM (MALINGAM), Mrs. R.A.—See RAMALINGAM, Mrs.

Tommy’.
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MANCHA, Bhaga—of Johannesburg. Served ten days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. (0, 22 October 1913). Sentenced in Volksrust on
27 October 1913 to three months with hard labour. (/O, 22 October and 5
November 1913).

MANDAR, Mrs.—of Germiston. One of six women and ten men who hawked
without licence in Germiston in October 1913, and got arrested. (0, 15
October 1913).

MANGALEE, M.F.—of Barberton. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days. (/O, 25 January 1908).

MANIKAM, S.—Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa
Bay to be deported to India. (JO, 16 April 1910).

MANIKUM, A.—Returned from deportation from the Transvaal to India and
allowed to land in Durban. ({0, 18 June 1910).

MAN]JEE, Mohanlal—Age 14. Discharged with warning for hawking. Sentenced
to ten days with hard labour for again hawking without licence. He was the son
of Manjee Nathubhai who had served imprisonment. His brother, Vithaldas
Manjee, was deported to India while his father was in prison. “The child
[Mohanlal] was most anxious to go to prison to suffer for his countrymen
even as his father and brother had done before him, and now his wish has been
granted and he is happy.” (/O, 11 and 18 September 1909).

MAN]JEE, Nathubhai—Released after serving three months in prison. (0, 5
June 1909).

MANIJEE, Vithaldas—Older brother of Mohanlal Manjee. Deported from the
Transvaal to India while his father, Nathubhai, was in jail. (/O, 11 September
1909).

MANSUR, Hassan Suliman—of Heidelberg. Deported from the Transvaal. (10,
27 February 1909).

MARAMUTHOO—Released from prison. (0, 13 August 1910).

MARAVIA, Ebrahim—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without
licence. (10, 15 August 1908).

MARIAM, Joseph—of Durban. Arrested in Volksrust on 27 October 1913. (0,
5 November 1913).

MARIAN, David—Waiter and cook at Trocadero Restaurant in the Transvaal.
Born in Natal and had a Natal domicile certificate. Ordered by the employer
to register under the Asiatic Act, resigned and courted arrest. Deported to
Bombay. Returned from deportation to India and allowed to land in Durban.
({0, 9 and 16 April, 18 June and 16 July 1910; InD Rev, June 1910).

MARIE, David—of Boksburg. Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (70,
9 April 1910).

MARIMOOTOO, C.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (IO,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

MARIMUTHU, David—Waiter. Born in Natal and possessed Natal Domicile
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Certificate. Deported from the Transvaal to India. Had wife and two children
in the Transvaal. (INp Rev, June 1910). Returned and was allowed to land in
Durban. ({0, 18 June 1910).

MARUTHAMUTHU—Went to Natal under indenture in 1889. Deported from
the Transvaal, and landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. ({0, 23 July 1910; Inp
REV, June 1910).

MATTHEWS, S.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. Did not register under the
Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days. (/0, 18 and
25 January 1908).

MAV]I, Visram—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (0, 4 February 1911).

MAWI]EE, Diar—He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908, along
with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Transvaal Immigration Restriction
Act, to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident. When arrested and brought
before the Court, he said he had a Peace Preservation Ordinance permit and
registration certificate issued under Lord Milner’s regime. He would not give
thumb impression under the compulsion of the Asiatic Registration Act. He
was sentenced to deportation. (/0, 29 August 1908).

MAW]I, Hira—Sentenced in July 1908 for seven days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. ({0, 1 August 1908).

MAYAVASI, Mulji Uka—Sentenced to six weeks in 1908 for crossing Natal-Trans-
vaal border. ({0, 17 October 1908).

MEDH, Surendrarai Bapubhai—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MEHTA, Ms. Jayakunvar Pranjivandas—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MEHTA, Kalyandas Jagmohandas—A relative of Dr. Pranjivan Mehta. Emigrated
to South Africa while young; landed in Durban with Gandhi in December
1901. Worked in International Printing Press, and then in Gandhi’s law office
in Johannesburg. Later moved to Phoenix and became a Satyagrahi. Moved
with children in Phoenix school to India in 1914.

MEHTA, Raghawji Rugnath (Ragunath)—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal.
Arrested at Volksrust after crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/0, 10
October 1908).

MEHTAB, Mrs. Sheikh (Bai Fatima)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MEMON, Taiyab Moosa—of Pietersburg. Went to prison in August 1908. (/O,
29 August 1908).

MERAMAN—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. ({0, 4 February 1911).

MIA, Amod (and his brother)—of Rustenburg. Amod Mia and his brother were
fined £25 in December 1908 for trading without licence in Rustenburg. They
were allowed no option of prison. ({0, 2 January 1909).

MIA, Essop Ismail—See ‘Biographical Notes..

MIA, Hassan—of Roodepoort. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave
the Transvaal within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act. (0, 25
January 1908).
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MIA, Hassan—Butcher. Sentenced in August 1908 to eight days for trading
without licence. (0, 29 August 1908).

MIA, Ibrahim—Butcher. Sentenced in August 1908 to eight days for trading
without licence. (0, 29 August 1908).

MIA, Mahomed Suleman—Sentenced to one month with hard labour in
November 1908 and sentenced again in December 1908 for one month with
hard labour. (O, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

MIA, Moosa—Entered the Transvaal and refused to give thumb impressions.
Sentenced to two months in prison and deportation. (/O, 3 October 1908).
MIA, Moosa Ismail and 53 others, including 17 children—All 54 were sentenced
to three months with hard labour each, for recrossing to Transvaal after being
deported. Moosa was a merchant.(/0, 17 and 24 October 1908). He was Acting

Chairman of British Indian Association in July 1907. (0, 20 July 1907).

MIA, Sidu—Butcher. Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (O, 31 October
1908).

MIAN, Ali—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour in July 1908 for hawking
without licence. (0, 1 August 1908).

MIAN, Gor—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour in July 1908 for hawking
without licence. (0, 1 August 1908).

MIAN, Kaji Dada—Passive resister. Received residential rights under the provi-
sional settlement in 1911. (O, 10 June 1911).

MINACHI (MINNATJEE, MINAKSHEE), Miss—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MITHA, Soma—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/0,
30 January 1909).

MOODALEY, A. Sookalingh—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10,
23 October 1909).

MOODALEY, A.A.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (IO, 6
February 1909).

MOODALEY, C. Canda—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August, 1908 for hawking
without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).

MOODALEY (MOODLEY), Chokalingam—Sentenced to three months with
hard labour for managing E.I. Aswat’s store. ({0, 12 June 1909). Owing to his
delicate health, he was kept in the hospital throughout the period of incarcer-
ation. ({0, 22 January 1910).

MOODALEY, Dorasamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 6
February 1909).

MOODALEY, M. Soopan—Sentenced in Volksrust on 31 December 1913 for
crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (0, 31 December 1913).

MOODALEY, N. Sutappa—Sentenced to three months with hard labour twice.
({0, 6 February and 14 August 1909).

MOODALEY, R. Packrey—Hawker. Jailed on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. (0, 12 September 1908).
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MOODALEY, R.M. Ramsamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
(IO, 23 October 1909).

MOODALEY, Rama—Released after serving two months with hard labour. (/0,
15 May 1909).

MOODALEY, S.R.—Discharged from prison. (/0, 21 May 1910).

MOODALEY (MOODLEY), S.S.—“Well-tried passive resister. Has been in
prison more than once. ({0, 19 February 1910).

MOODALEY, S. Supramanya—~Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({0, 14 August 1909).

MOODALEY, Sandadwan—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. /O,
6 February 1909).

MOODALEY, Sundara—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 23
October 1909).

MOODALEY, T. Candasamy (Kandasamy)—Sentenced to three months with
hard labour. (JO, 6 February 1909). Sentenced to three months with hard
labour in October 1909. (0, 23 October 1909). Deported in 1910. (/0, 19
March 1910).

MOODALEY, V.S.—Jailed on 14 August 1908. ({0, 12 September 1908).

MOODALIAR, R. Packri—of Kimberley. Served a term of imprisonment.
(GoLpEN NuMBER OF INDIAN OPINION).

MOODALY, A.A.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, A.S.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, C.K.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, CV.—Picket. (IO, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, I.LA.A.—Sentenced to ten days for hawking without licence. He was
in prison with Swami Nagappan Padayachy, the martyr. (0, 10 July 1909).

MOODALY, N. Sattapa—Released from prison. (0, 20 November 1909).

MOODALY, N.T.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, R.M.R.—Picket. (IO, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, Ramsamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March
1910. ({0, 19 March 1910).

MOODALY, Rama—See ‘MOODALEY, Rama’.

MOODALY, S. Ariaputhran—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, T.C.—Picket. (10, 3 October 1908).

MOODALY, Veerasamy—Returned from deportation to India and landed in
Cape Town. ({0, 3 December 1910).

MOODLEY—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. ({0, 31 December 1910).

MOODLEY, Chindadee—Released from prison. (/0, 22 January 1910).

MOODLEY, Kandasamy Vadivel—of Durban. Arrested at Volksrust on 27
October 1913. ({0, 5 November 1913).

MOODLEY, Kisten—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 5
November 1910).
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MOODLEY, Moonsamy—~Sentenced to one week with hard labour. (O, 3
October 1908).

MOODLEY, Ram. Remanded. (O, 10 February 1910).

MOODLEY, R.M. Ramsamy—Deported. ({0, 19 March 1910).

MOODLEY, Rathana—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

MOODLEY, S.S.—‘well-tried passive resister’.

MOODLEY, Subramaniam—Sentenced to three months and seven days. (10, 12
February 1910).

MOODLY, A. Ananda—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (IO,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, A. Somdra—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (IO,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, C. Kandasamy—]Jailed in November 1908. (/0, 21 November 1908).

MOODLY, CV.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, KV.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, R.M. Rama—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, S. ARUMUGA—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908.
(IO, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, S.R.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, T. Kandasamy—Hawker. Jailed in December 1908. ({0, 19 December 1908).

MOODLY, V.S.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

MOOLA, Goolam Mahomed—of Middelburg. Deported from the Transvaal to
Natal. ({0, 2 January 1909).

MOOLA, Ismail Ahmed—Satyagrahi. (0, 18 January 1908).

MOOLA, Mahomed Moosajee—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({10, 20 February 1909).

MOOLOO, Ramlall—Satyagrahi. Chairman, Pretoria Indian Congress. (PrRETORIA
TamiIL LEAGUE).

MOONIAN, Mootu—Transferred on 9 April 1910, from the Transvaal to
Delagoa Bay to be deported to India. (/O, 16 April 1910).

MOONLIGHT, Cupoosamy—Satyagrahi in the last phase, 1913. See ‘MUDA-
LIAR, Coopoosamy Moonlight'.

MOONLIGHT, Peter—Released from prison on 15 December 1910. (/0, 24
December 1910).

MOONOOSAMY, Paul—Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. (10,
16 July 1910).
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MOONOSAMY, R.—Transferred on 9 April 1910, from the Transvaal to Delagoa
Bay to be deported to India. (JO, 16 April 1910).

MOONSAMY, C.—Worker at a European factory in the Transvaal. Arrested for
not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 9 April 1910).

MOONSAMY, Chinia—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to
Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

MOONSAMY, D.—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to Durban
and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

MOONSAMY, Ellary (Ellarie)—Worker at a European factory in the Transvaal.
Arrested for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 9 April 1910).

MOONSAMY, ].S.—of Barberton. Ordered in January 1908 to leave the Trans-
vaal for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 1 February 1908).

MOONSAMY, Papayah—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10, 5
and 12 March 1910).

MOONSAMY, Peter—Deported. ({0, 14 August 1909).

MOONSAMY, S.—Satyagrahi in the first phase from Barberton. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (0,
25 January 1908; 10 April 1909).

MOONSAMY, S.—Transferred on 9 April 1910, from the Transvaal to Delagoa
Bay to be deported to India. (/O, 16 April 1910).

MOORGAN—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to Durban, not
allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

MOORGAN—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 30 July 1910).

MOORGAN, David—Now in prison. (/0, 29 October 1910).

MOORGAN, Lachmanan—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. Released
after serving 14 days in prison in Christiana. ({0, 14 January and 7 November
1911). Then re-crossed the Transvaal border from Bloemfontein, and was
arrested. (/O, 7 November 1911).

MOORGAN, Laitchman—Natal-born Indian. Returned to Durban after depor-
tation from the Transvaal to India but was sent back to India. (/O, 18 June
1910).

MOORUGAN, Lukshman—Cigar-maker. Born in Natal. Deported from the
Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. He was then 21. (IO, 16 July 1910; Inp Rev,
June 1910).

MOORGAN, Polany—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and was admitted. ({0, 30 April and 1 October 1910).

MOOSA, A.M.—A leader of Natal Indian Association. Charged on 19 November
with abetting the strike of Indian workers. (/0, 26 November 1913). Charges
were withdrawn later.

MOOSA, Adam—of Boksburg. He was arrested for hawking without licence
and sentenced to seven days, but paid the fine and was released. (10, 25 July,
1 August 1908).
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MOOSA, Adamji—Sentenced in July 1908 to four days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. Served two terms of three months each and a term
of six weeks. While on his way home after release, he was rearrested on the
charge of refusing to produce a registration certificate under the Asiatic Act.
He had been ill for two months in the Houtpoort Prison hospital during his
previous imprisonment. ({0, 4 September 1909; Nav4r, p. 317).

MOOSA, Ebrahim—~Satyagrahi in the first phase from Barberton. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days. (/O, 25 January 1908).

MOOSA, Haffejee—Satyagrahi in the first phase from Potchefstroom. Ordered
to leave the Transvaal by noon on 31 January. (0, 25 January 1908).

MOOSA, Ismail A.H.—A leader of the Natal Indian Association. Treasurer of
the ‘Honourable Gokhale Reception Committee’ and acted as his host during
Gokhale’s stay in Durban in 1912 Took an active part in passive resistance work
in 1913-14. He was arrested in November 1913 on charge of inciting workers
to strike and to violence but the charges were dropped. (/0, 26 November and
17 December 1913; 4 March 1914).

MOOSA, Ismail Mahomed—Deported from the Transvaal to India. (0, 12
February 1910).

MOOSA, Mahomed—of Boksburg. General dealer. Sentenced in October 1908
to 14 days for trading without licence. (/0, 17 October 1908). Sentenced to
fine with no option of prison. Deported. (O, 31 October 1908). Deported.
(10, 12 February 1910).

MOOSA, Mahomed—Satyagrahi in the first phase from Barberton. (/0, 25
January 1908).

MOOSA, Suliman—Satyagrahi in the first phase from Barberton. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days. (/O, 25 January 1908).

MOOSA, Suleman—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without licence.
({0, 15 August 1908).

MOOSAJEE, Amod—of Johannesburg. Arrested in 1908 while picketing.
Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (JO, 19 December 1908; 6
February 1909).

MOOTAN, Moonsamy—Awaiting trial. ({0, 19 February 1910).

MOOTHAN, Moorugan—Gardener. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in
Colombo on 2 June, 1910. (O, 23 July 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

MOOTHOO—Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ‘He is an old man and
leaves behind him a blind and aged wife with no one to care for her’ (/0, 5
March 1910).

MOOTHOQO, Alfred Andrew—Arrested. ({0, 29 January 1910).

MOOTHOO, Govindsamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned
to Durban but was sent on to East London to prove domicile in Kimberley.
({0, 18 June 1910).

MOOTOSAMY—Deported from the Transvaal to India. ({0, 12 February 1910).
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MORAR, Bhoola—-Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 20 February 1909).

MORAR, Kanji—Sentenced in July 1908 to seven days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. ({0, 1 August 1908).

MORAR, Khusal—Released after serving 10 days for hawking without licence.
(IO, 15 and 22 October 1913).

MORAR, Nagaji (Nagar)—Sentenced on 21 July 1908 to four days for hawking
without licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic
Act. (10, 25 July 1908).

MORAR, Suka—Sentenced in May 1909 to 14 days with hard labour. (0, 22
May 1909).

MORGAN-—Ordered deported. ({0, 16 April 1910).

MORGAN—Arrested in August 1909 for refusing to produce a certificate under
the Asiatic Act. He had been working as a volunteer in the office of the British
Indian Association. An enthusiastic footballer, he was acting secretary of the
Crimson League. His place as volunteer was taken by Rajoo Naidoo. When
Rajoo Naidoo was arrested, Morgan again offered his services as a volunteer. He
had already suffered a term of imprisonment. In March 1910, he was ordered
to be deported to Natal. ({0, 7 August 1909; 5 and 26 March 1910).

MORGAN—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0, 23 April 1910).

MORGAN, David—Satyagrahi. (/0, 3 and 17 June 1911).

MORGAN, Ellen—Worker at a European factory in the Transvaal. Arrested for
not registering under the Asiatic Act. (10, 9 April 1910).

MORGAN, Frank—Cirossed the Transvaal border from Charlestown with Willy
Morgan on 2 December 1913 and was sentenced to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 10 December 1913).

MORGAN, L.—Transferred from the Transvaal to Delagoa Bay on 9 April 1910
to be deported to India. (0, 16 April 1910).

MORGAN, Rajoo—Arrested on 2 October 1913. Sentenced to one day for
hawking without licence. Charged under Asiatic Act. (0, 8 October 1913).

MORGAN, Willy—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MOSES—Owner, Kafhir Eating House. Sentenced to ten days with hard labour.
(IO, 31 October 1908).

MOSES, Thulakanum—Awaiting deportation. (0, 30 April 1910).

MOTALA, Ahmed Mahomed—of Johannesburg. Sentenced to three months
with hard labour. Sentenced again to three months with hard labour. (10, 6
February and 25 December 1909).

MOTARA, Ahmed—Thrice imprisoned. (/0, 29 August 1908)

MOTARA, Ebrahim—=Served imprisonment five times by March 1910. (/0, 19
March 1910).

MOTARA, Gopaliar Padiachy—Satyagrahi in prison. (0, 29 January 1910).

MOTTAYAN, Mootoosamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0,
20 February 1909).
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MOTTEN—of Newclare. Ordered to be deported to India from the Transvaal.
(IO, 19 March 1910).

MUDALEY (Moodaly), Rama—Vice-Chairman of Tamil Benefit Society. Served
three months with hard labour in 1909. (O, 15 May 1909).

MUDALEY (MUDALI), T. Candasamy—Hawker. Sentenced to three months
with hard labour for managing the store of E.I. Aswat. Deported from the
Transvaal and arrived in Bombay. (/0, 5 June 1909; 16 July 19105 Inp Rev,
June 1910).

MUDALI, Ramasamy Muthia—Hawker and general dealer. Deported from the
Transvaal, arrived in Bombay. He had wife and two children in the Transvaal.
(10, 16 July 19105 IND REV, June 1910).

MUDALIAR, Coopoosamy (Kuppuswami) Moonlight—Student at Phoenix
Settlement. Member of pioneer party of resisters from Phoenix Settlement
in 1913, sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard labour. He
was not yet 18. ({0, 1 October and 24 December 1913). See ‘Mudaliar, Peter
Moonlight’.

MUDALIAR, Kundasamy—Released from prison. (/0, 22 January 1910).

MUDALIAR, Mrs. Peter Moonlight (Minuchy Pillay Mudaliar)—She was a
member of the second batch of eight Transvaal women who went to Natal
in order to explain the £3 tax to indentured workers and encourage them to
suspend work until the government undertook to abolish the tax. They were
sentenced in December 1913 to three months with hard labour for crossing the
Natal-Transvaal border. (/O, 24 December 1913).

MUDALIAR, Peter Moonlight (Vengadasala Moonoosamy Mudaliar)—Once
Chairman of Tamil Benefit Society. Arrested in May 1910 and deported from
the Transvaal to India. Returned to Durban, not allowed to land and sent to
Port Elizabeth. He was on Gertrude Woermann when A. Narayanswamy died
on 16 October 1910. ({0, 14 May and 1 October 1910).

MUDALIAR, R.M. Ramsamy—Awaiting trial. (/O, 19 February 1910).

MUDALIAR, R. Moonsamy—Father of Valliamma. A satyagrahi during the
struggle in the Transvaal. He could not join the satyagraha in 1913 as he had
an operation. His wife Mangalam and his daughter Valliamma were among
the Transvaal women Satyagrahis. See Biographical Note on ‘Mudaliar, Miss
Valliamma R. Moonsamy’.

MUDALIAR, Mrs. R. Moonsamy (Mangalam)—She was a member of the second
batch of eight Transvaal women who went to Natal in order to explain the
£3 tax to indentured workers and encourage them to suspend work until the
government undertook to abolish the tax. They were sentenced in December
1913 to three months with hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border.
({0, 24 December 1913).

MUDALIAR, Miss Valliamma R. Moonsamy—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

MUDALY, A. Govindasamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
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labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

MUDALY, K.—Sentenced on 25 January 1909 to 21 days for trading without
licence. (10, 30 January 1909).

MUDALY, S. Vengadasala (Venkatachala)—Sentenced in June 1909 to three
months with hard labour. (O, 10 July 1909).

MUDALY, Singaravelloo—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (O, 10 July 1909).

MUDALY, V. Kistna—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
(10, 10 July 1909).

MUDALY, Veerasamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

MULJL, Hira (Hirji)—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust
after crossing into the Transvaal from Natal and sentenced to 14 days. He was
a boy about 12 years old. (0, 10 and 17 October 1908).

MUNUSAMY, C.—Cigar-maker. Born in Natal. Deported from the Transvaal.
Arrived in Bombay. He was then 25. (0, 16 July 19105 Inp REv, June 1910).
MUNUSAWMI, P.—Cigar-maker. Born in Natal. Deported from the Transvaal

to India. He was then 18. (Inp Rev, June 1910).

MUNUSAWMY, Paul—Waiter. Born in Natal. Deported from the Transvaal to
India. He was then 19. (INp Rev, June 1910).

MUNUSAWMI, Yellari—Cigar-maker. Born in Natal. Possessed Natal domicile
certificate. Deported to India in 1910. (Ivp Rev, June 1910).

MURGAN, L.—Released from prison. (0, 11 March 1911).

MURGAN, Muthian—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).
Released from prison on 15 December. (/0, 24 December 1910).

MURLISINGH, Shivprasad—of Germiston. Sentenced in 1913. Released from
Durban Point Jail on 17 January 1914. ({0, 21 January 1914).

MURUGAN, R.—Cigar-maker. Born in the Transvaal. Deported from the
Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. He was then 18.(/0, 16 July 1910).

MUSTAPHA, Hoosen—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907; 1 February
1908).

MUTHIAN, Moothoo (Muthu)—Arrested on his way to secure mid-wife; wife
delivered twins, unattended, and both died within 24 hours. Deported from the
Transvaal to India on 18 March 1910. Arrived in Bombay. His wife and child
were in Johannesburg. (INp RV, June 1910). Returned to Durban, not allowed
to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (10, 19 March, 16 July and 1 October 1910).
Released from prison on 15 December 1910. (0, 24 December 1910).

MUTHOO—Satyagrahi, last phase.

MUTHOO, Madaray (Maduray)—Worker at a European cigar factory in the
Transvaal. Arrested and transferred to Delagoa Bay on 9 April 1910 for depor-
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tation to India. (0, 9 and 16 April 1910).

MUTHU—Sentenced to three months with hard labour for managing E.I.
Aswat’s store. ({0, 29 May 1909).

MUTHU, Narasi—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March 1910.
(I0, 19 March 1910).

MUTHUSAMI, P.—Laundryman. Born in Natal. Was a member of the Indian
ambulance corps during the Anglo-Boer War. Deported from the Transvaal.
Arrived in Bombay. (/0, 16 July 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).

MUTHUSAMY—Labourer. Went to Natal under indenture in 1880. Deported
from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. Left a blind wife and
child in the Transvaal. ({0, 23 July 1910; InD REV, June 1910).

NADASAN, M.—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without
licence. (10, 5 and 12 September 1908).

NAGAPPA, Ellen—Returned from deportation from the Transvaal to India and
allowed to land in Durban. ({0, 18 June 1910).

NAGAPPAN—Worker at Trocadero Restaurant in the Transvaal. Refused to
register under the Asiatic Act as ordered by employer, resigned and courted
arrest. ({0, 9 April 1910).

NAGAPPAN, Chellan—Released from prison. (0, 13 August 1910).

NAGAPPAN (NAGAPPEN) PADAYACHY, Swamy—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAGAPPEN, Chela—Waiter. Born in Natal. Deported to India in 1910. (Inp
REV, June 1910).

NAGDEE, Mahomed Essop—of Nylstroom. Born around 1867. Member of
British Indian Association Committee. Jailed in November 1908. Sentenced
to fine without prison option. (/0, 21 November 1908; 30 January 1909). He
participated in token passive resistance against anti-Indian measure in Johan-
nesburg in April 1941.

NAICKER, Dharmoo—Released from prison in April 1910. ({0, 9 April 1910).
Went to prison again and again.

NAICKER, Muthoo—Released from prison. (0, 13 August 1910).

NAIDOO, A.—of Tongaat. Satyagrahi last phase. Sentenced to three months
with hard labour in October 1913. ({0, 8 October 1913).

NAIDOO, A. John—Had served a term of imprisonment. (/O, 17 June 1911).

NAIDOO, A. Moonsamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (Z0,
14 August 1909).

NAIDOO, A. Narsimulu—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 6
February 1909).

NAIDOO, Mys. A. Perumal—She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who
went to Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers
in the mines about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They
were arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three

months with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. ({0, 22 October 1913).

254§ PIONEERS OF SATYAGRAHA



NAIDOO, A. Perumal—Satyagrahi. (/0, 17 June 1911).

NAIDOO, Abhaya (Abhie)—Transferred from the Transvaal to Delagoa Bay to
be deported to India. (0, 2 and 16 April 1910).

NAIDOO, Annasamy—Released after serving six weeks with hard labour. (0,
26 November 1910).

NAIDOO, C. Kistnasamy (Krishnaswamy)—Sentenced in June 1909 to three
months with hard labour. (O, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

NAIDOO, C. Muthaya—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

NAIDOO, C.R.—of Natal. Store-keeper born in South Africa. Charged in
December 1913 in Verulam with incitement. Charges were later withdrawn.
(IO, 31 December 1913).

NAIDOO, D.N.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. (0, 18 January 1908).

NAIDOO, Doorasamy—Young son of Packirysamy Naidoo. Sentenced to three
months with hard labour. ( /O, 2 January 1909). Sentenced again to three
months with hard labour. ({0, 14 August 1909). Arrested in February 1910;
he was 19-years-old. ({0, 12 and 19 February 1910). Sentenced to six weeks.
(IO, 5 and 12 March 1910).

NAIDOO, Ellappa—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).

NAIDOO, G.K. Thambi—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAIDOO, Mrs. G.K. Thambi (Veerammal)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAIDOO, G. Veloo—Released from prison on 15 December 1910. (O, 24
December 1910).

NAIDOO, Gopal—See ‘NAIDOO, N. Venugopal’.

NAIDOO, Govindsamy S.—Ordered to be deported. ({0, 4 June 1910).

NAIDOO, Mrs. Govindsamy—She was a member of the second batch of eight
Transvaal women who went to Natal in order to explain the £3 tax to indentured
workers and encourage them to suspend work until the government undertook
to abolish the tax. They were sentenced in December 1913 to three months with
hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (0, 24 December 1913).

NAIDOO, Gurusamy—General dealer. Sentenced to a fine, with no prison
option. ({0, 31 October 1908). Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({0, 18 December 1909).

NAIDOO, Hansdev—Arrested. (IO, 11 June 1910).

NAIDOO, J.N.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (JO, 23 October
1909).

NAIDOO, J.R.—Chief picket. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Did not register
under the Asiatic Act and was ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days.
({0, 18 January 1908).

NAIDOO, K.—Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (0, 2 January 1909).

NAIDOO, K. Subia (Subbiah)—Arrested. (/O, 26 June 1909).
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NAIDOO, Krishnasamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour on 15
November 1910. (/O, 3 December 1910).

NAIDOO, L.D.—Picket. Arrested and remanded. ({0, 16 December 1908).

NAIDOO, L.R.—Arrested while picketing. ({0, 26 December 1908).

NAIDOO, M.—Sentenced to three months. (0, 2 April 1910).

NAIDOO, M.R.—Picket. (IO, 3 October 1908).

NAIDOO, Mangappan—of Germiston. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal.
({10, 20 February 1909).

NAIDOO, Moonsamy—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).

NAIDOO, Moonsamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10, 14
August 1909).

NAIDOO, Moonsamy—of Newcastle. Railway sirdar. Volunteered to resist. ({0,
22 October 1913).

NAIDOO, Mottu—Returned from deportation to India and was allowed to land
in Durban. ({0, 18 June 1910).

NAIDOO (NAIDU), Muthiah—DBottle seller. Went to Natal under indenture
in 1892. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. (0, 16 July 1910;
IND REV, June 1910).

NAIDOO, N.—of Pretoria. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0, 2 January
1909).

NAIDOO, N.D.—Arrested while picketing. (0, 26 December 1908).

NAIDOO, N.M.—Picket. (O, 3 October 1908). Sentenced to three months with
hard labour for managing E.I. Aswat’s store. (0, 22 May 1909). Sentenced
again to three months with hard labour. (/0, 23 October 1909).

NAIDOO, N.P.—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (/O, 27 March
1909).

NAIDOO, N. Ragaruthna—Satyagrahi. ({0, 17 June 1911).

NAIDOO, N.S.—Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/0, 2 January 1909).

NAIDOO, N. Venugopal—See ‘Biographical Notes'.

NAIDOO, Nagappa—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 23
October 1909).

NAIDOO, Nagappan—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).

NAIDOO, Narasima—Awaiting trial. (/0, 19 February 1910).

NAIDOO, Narasimalu—=Satyagrahi (PreToria TamiL LEAGUE).

NAIDOO, Narayansamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10, 13
and 20 March 1909). Arrested. (13 August 1910).

NAIDOO, Nayana—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without
licence. (10, 5 and 12 September 1908).

NAIDOO, P.K. (Krishnaswamy)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAIDOO, Mrs. P.K.—See ‘Biographical Notes'.
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NAIDOO, P. Rajoo—]Jailed on 14 August 1908. (0, 12 September 1908).

NAIDOO, P.S.—Sentenced to one week with hard labour. (O, 3 October 1908).

NAIDOO, Packiry (Pakeeree)—DPre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at
Volksrust after crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. Sentenced in February
1909 to three months with hard labour. (JO, 10 October 1908; 6 and 20
February 1909).

NAIDOQO, Pakiri. Sentenced in November 1913 to three months with hard labour
for crossing the Transvaal border near Kimberley. ({0, 10 December 1913).
NAIDOO, Perumal—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.

({10, 26 June and 10 July 1909).

NAIDOO, Perumal—See ‘NAIDOO, V. Krishnasamy’.

NAIDOO, Perumal—of Tongaat. Discharged from Durban jail on 6 January
1914. (IO, 7 January 1914).

NAIDOO, Primal—Satyagrahi. (/O, 9 October 1913).

NAIDOO, R.K.—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAIDOO, R.R.—Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (JO, 3
October 1908; 6 February 1909).

NAIDOO, R. RAJOO (Raju)—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and again in
December 1908. (O, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

NAIDOO, R.S.—Picket. (IO, 3 October 1908).

NAIDOO, Rajoo (Raju)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAIDOO, Ramchandra—Released after serving three months with hard labour.
({0, 22 May 1909).

NAIDOO, Ramsamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10, 20
February 1909).

NAIDOO, Rengasamy—of Transvaal. (PreTORIA TAMIL LEAGUE).

NAIDOO, S.—Hawker. Jailed in November 1908 and again in December 1908.
(IO, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

NAIDOQO, §S. Chinasamy—Awaiting trial. (/O, 19 February 1910).

NAIDOO, S. Coopoosamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March
1910. ({0, 19 March 1910).

NAIDOO, Sinsamy—Ordered deported from the Transvaal. He had domicile in
Port Elizabeth. (O, 5 March 1910).

NAIDOO, S.N.—Sentenced in 1909. Released in January 1910.

NAIDOO, S.P.—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909).

NAIDOO, S§. Pavaday. Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. (0, 5 September 1908).

NAIDOQO, S. Rangasamy (Rangasami, Rungasamy)—Hawker. Sentenced on 14
August 1908 for hawking without licence. (0, 5 and 12 September 1908).
Ordered to be deported to India. (/O, 4 June 1910).

NAIDOO, S.R.—Picket. Sentenced to three months for managing E.I. Aswat’s
store. ({0, 3 October 1908; 5 June 1909).
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NAIDOO, Sellapa—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

NAIDOO, Soobiah (Subbiah, Soopaya)—Hawker. Sentenced in June 1909 to
three months with hard labour. (0, 10 July 1909). Deported from the Trans-
vaal to India on 18 March 1910. Arrived in Bombay. He was then 21. (0, 19
March and 16 July 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).

NAIDOO, Subrayalu—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908; 28 May 1910).

NAIDOO, T. Coopoosamy (Kuppusamy)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NAIDOO, T. Pavaday—Jailed on 14 August 1908. ({0, 12 September 1908).

NAIDOO, V.—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (O,
26 June and 10 July 1909).

NAIDOO, V. Krishnasamy—He was deported with his son, Perumal, a minor, to
India. When they returned to Durban and crossed the Natal-Transvaal border,
they were detained. ({0, 3 December 1910).

NAIDOO, Veerasamy—Sentenced in July 1909 to seven days with hard labour
for hawking without licence. (/O, 1 August 1909).

NAIDOO, V. Mootia—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909).

NAIDOO, V. Poonsamy—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (10,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

NAIDOO, V.R.—Hawker. Picket. Jailed in November and December 1908. (IO,
3 October 1908; 21 November and 19 December 1908).

NAIDOO, V. Rajoo (Raja)—Hawker. Deported from the Transvaal to India on
18 March 1910. Arrived in Bombay. (0, 19 March and 16 July 1910; Inp Rev,
June 1910).

NAIDOO, Mrs. V.S.—Spent three months in jail.

NAIDOO, VV.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

NAIDOO, Veerasamy—Sentenced in July 1908 for hawking without licence.
Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa Bay for deportation
to India. (/O, 16 April 1910; Navar, p. 321).

NAIGAR, Dharmoo—Satyagrahi in prison. (/0, 29 January 1910).

NAIGER, K.K. Samy—Picket. (0, 3 October 1908).

NAIK, L.B.—of the Transvaal. Went to Natal in November 1913, crossed the
border with others and was sentenced to three months. (O, 31 December 1913;
4 March 1914).

NAIK, N.B.—Pietermaritzburg. Arrested on 30 November 1913. Charges relating
to strike in Pietermaritzburg were withdrawn on instruction from the Attorney
General. (0, 3 December 1913; 28 January 1914).

NAIKER, Armuga—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing the
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

NAIKER, D.—Sentenced to three months. (O, 1 January 1910).
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NAIKER, Sooppa Veerasamy—Sentenced in July 1908 to seven days with hard
labour for hawking without licence. (0, 1 August 1908).

NAIKER, Varadapa—of Standerton. Deported. ({0, 27 February 1909).

NANAMIA—A staunch passive resister. His son, barely 16, was ordered to be
deported from the Transvaal. ({0, 5 March 1910).

NANDEN, Mrys.—of Germiston. Went to Charleston to cross the Transvaal
border and get arrested, but could not court arrest because of the provisional
settlement in January 1914. ({0, 25 February 1914).

NANJI, Kara—Member of a Natal batch who entered the Transvaal. Sentenced
to three months on 24 March 1910. ({0, 2 July 1910; 4 March 1911).

NARAIN, Dev—Charged in Durban on 14 November 1913 with incitement to
strike. (NAzAL WiTnNESS, 14 November 1913).

NARAINSAMY, C.—Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa
Bay to be deported to India. (/O, 16 April 1910).

NARANSAMY—Owner, Kaffir Eating House. Sentenced to ten days with hard
labour. ({0, 31 October 1908).

NARANSAMY—Ordered deported from the Transvaal. ({0, 23 April 1910).

NARASI, Khatri Dahya—Awaiting trial. (/0, 17 October 1908).

NARASIMULU, A.—Bottle seller. Went to Natal under indenture. Deported
from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. ({0, 16 July 1910; Inp REv, June 1910).

NARASOOMULLOO—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).

NARAYAN, Ram—See ‘SINGH, Ramnarain’.

NARAYANSAMY—of Pretoria. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (0, 2
January 1909).

NARAYANSAMY—of Boksburg. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. (0,
26 February 1910).

NARAYANSAMY—of Johannesburg. Hawked without licence but not arrested.
({0, 22 October 1913).

NARAYANSWAMY, A.—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NARISING, Varadarajulu—Waiter. Born in Natal. Possessed Natal domicile
certificate. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. Was then 25.
({10, 16 July 19105 IND REV, June 1910).

NAROTEN, Raghubir—of Germiston. Sentenced in 1913. Released from Durban
Central Jail on 19 January 1914. Along with Bhawani Dayal, Gulabhdas and
Sivprasad, he left Germiston for Newcastle at the commencement of the strike.
They were arrested while moving among the indentured labourers and sentenced
to three months with hard labour. ({0, 21 January and 4 March 1914).

NARSI, Daya—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. ({0, 17 October 1908).

NARSOO (NARSU), Rajoo—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

NATH, Lala—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust after
crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/0, 10 October 1908).
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NATHAN, Sami (Samy)—Arrested. (/0, 26 June 1909).

NATHUBHALI, Lalbhai—Awaiting trial. ({0, 17 October 1908).

NATHUBHAI, Manjee—See ‘Manjee, Nathubhai’.

NAUNMIAN—Picket. (0, 3 October 1908).

NAYANAH, Dhobie—Sentenced to six weeks and a few months later to three
months with hard labour. (0, 14 May and 9 July 1910).

NICHBABHAI, Ranchhod—~Satyagrahi in the first phase. (/O, 18 January 1908).

NINJEE, Mahomed Essop—DPretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with
hard labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal ({0, 13 July 1907; 1
February 1908).

NIZAM, Hoosen—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/0,
30 January 1909).

NOOR, Memon Ebrahim—of Pretoria. Picket. (/0, 13 July 1907).

NORMAN, Mahabeer—(Also called Rajcoomar). Member of Natal batch
sentenced to 3 months on March 24, 1910. After release, stayed in Tolstoy
Farm awaiting further imprisonment. (0, 9 April 1910).

NURBHAI, Razak—Released from prison in June 1909. ({0, 12 June 1909).

NUZLA, Lala—Krugersdorp. Ordered to leave the Transvaal within 14 days.
({0, 1 February 1908).

NYANAH, Dobie—of Germiston. Taken to Pretoria for deportation. (/O, 18
December 1909).

NYANAH, Francis—Cartage contractor. Born in Natal. Possessed a Natal domi-
cile certificate. Was in jail in the Transvaal. Deported from the Transvaal,
landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. Left wife and four children in the Trans-
vaal. ({0, 23 July 1910; IND REv, June 1910).

ODHAYV, Kara—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days for trading without licence.
({0, 15 August 1908).

ODYAR, Ramsamy—of Standerton. Deported. ({0, 27 February 1909).

OOBAREY, Hassan Mia—Merchant. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act.
(10, 25 January 1908).

OOKA, Moolji—Fruiter. In Transvaal since 1897. He crossed the Natal-Transvaal
border in August 1908, along with 11 others, to claim his right, under the
Transvaal Immigration Restriction Act, to enter the Transvaal. Sentenced to
deportation for not producing a registration certificate under the Asiatic Act
when demanded. (0, 15 and 29 August 1908).

OSMAN, Ebrahim—Brother of Dada Osman. Storekeeper in Piet Retief. Joint
Secretary of Natal Indian Congress. One of the leaders of the Memon commu-
nity. He was a former resident of the Transvaal. Sentenced to 14 days for refusing
to give a thumb print under the Asiatic Act after crossing the Natal-Transvaal
border. (10, 29 August and 5 September 1908).

OSMAN, Omar—Tailor. Was in the Transvaal from 1893 to 1899. Sentenced
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to six weeks. He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border along with several others
and claimed the right to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident. He was
sentenced for not producing a registration certificate under the Asiatic Act.
({0, 15 August 1908).

PADACHY, Pana—of Transvaal. (PrETORIA TAMIL LEAGUE).

PADAMSING—of Pietermaritzburg. A Rajput. Arrived in South Africa as an
indentured labourer in the 1890s. After completing his contract, he paid the
three pound tax for several years. Arrested on 25 September 1913 after crossing
the Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi, and deported. Crossed the border
again and was sentenced on the 30th to three months with hard labour. ({0,
October 1 and 8, 1913).

PADAYACHEY, Ranga—]Jailed on 14 August 1908. (O, 12 September 1908).

PADAYACHEY, S. Villo—TJailed on 14 August 1908. (/0, 12 September 1908).

PADAYACHEY, V. Govindasamy—]Jailed on 14 August 1908. ({0, 12 September
1908).

PADAYACHI, C. Sooprai—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908.
(IO, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, C.P.—Hawker. Jailed in December 1908. (/O, 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, C.R.—]Jailed in November 1908. ({0, 21 November 1908).

PADAYACHI, K.G.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, R. Gopalsamy—Hawker. Jailed in November and December
1908. ({0, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, R.S.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, R. Thandapany—]Jailed in November 1908. (O, 21 November
1908).

PADAYACHI, SV—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, V.G.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHI, V.M.—Hawker. Jailed in December 1908. (IO, 19 December
1908).

PADAYACHI, V.M.—Jailed in November 1908. (/O, 21 November 1908).

PADAYACHI, V.S.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PADAYACHY, A. Ramasamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with
hard labour. (O, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, Armuga—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

PADAYACHY, Aroomoogam—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with
hard labour. (O, 10 July 1909).
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PADAYACHY, C. Aroonasala—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({0, 14 August 1909).

PADAYACHY, C. Ayyadooray—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({0, 14 August 1909).

PADAYACHY, Chinsamy—of Transvaal. (PreTORIA TAMIL LEAGUE).

PADAYACHY, Cumarasamy—of Transvaal. (PreToriA TamiL LEAGUE).

PADAYACHY, Govindasamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with
hard labour. (O, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, M. Pakeeree—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, Maramuthoo—Deported. ({0, 14 August 1909).

PADAYACHY, N. Cundasamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({0, 14 August 1909).

PADAYACHY, N.S.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 23
October 1909).

PADAYACHY, P. Ramasamy—of Kimberley. Served a term of imprisonment.
(GoLpEn NuMBER OF INDIAN OPINION).

PADAYACHY, P. Sella—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, Pona—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
(10, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, R. Durmalinga—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
(IO, 23 October 1909).

PADAYACHY, R. Kathervelloo (Kathira Velloo)—Sentenced in June 1909 to
three months with hard labour. (O, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, R.S.—Picket. (IO, 3 October 1908).

PADAYACHY, R. Thandapani—Hawker. Jailed in December 1908. (IO, 19
December 1908). See ‘PADIACHI, R. Thampani’.

PADAYACHY, S. Arunachala (Aroonasala)—Sentenced in June 1909 to three
months with hard labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, S. Govindasamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour.
({0, 14 August 1909).

PADAYACHY, S. Velloo—Released from prison. (/O, 20 November, 1909).

PADAYACHY, S.V.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

PADAYACHY, SV.G.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

PADAYACHY, Uthravatee (Uttravathy)—Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. (0, 14 August and 20 November 1909).

PADAYACHY, V.A.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

PADAYACHY, Varroomuga—Released from prison. ({0, November 20, 1909).

PADAYACHY, V. Muthuranga—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with
hard labour. (O, 10 July 1909).

PADAYACHY, V.R.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).
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PADIACHI—see also PADAYACHY

PADIACHI, Govinda—Hawker. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in
Bombay. (0, 16 July 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

PADIACHI, M. Maduramuthu—Cigar-maker. Born in Mauritius. Deported
from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. He had wife and four children in
Johannesburg. (10, 16 July 1910; InD Rev, June 1910).

PADIACHI, R.K.—Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. ({0, 2 January 1909).

PADIACHLI, R. Thampani (Thandapani?)—Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 6 February 1909). See ‘Padayachy, R. Thandapani’.

PADIACHY—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (O, 31 October 1908).

PADIACHY, Arumuga— ‘Well known passive resister’. ({0, 28 January 1914). See
also PADAYACHY, Armuga’ and PADAYACHY, Aroomoogam’.

PADIACHY, C. Moothoranga—Satyagrahi. (0, 2 January 1909).

PADIACHY, C. Thambiappan—Age 21. Sentenced in September 1909 to three
months under the Asiatic Act and two weeks under the licensing law with
hard labour. He had already been in jail twice. (O, 25 September 1909 and
1 January 1910).

PADIACHY, Coomarasamy—Arrested. (/O, 12 February 1910). Pioneer settler
on Tolstoy Farm. ({0, 2 July 1911).

PADIACHY, Coopoosamy—Satyagrahi. (0, 19 February 1910).

PADIACHY, Dharmalingam—Businessman. Sentenced to 21 days with hard
labour for trading without licence. ({0, 30 January 1909). Sentenced to three
months with hard labour. (O, 29 January 1910).

PADIACHY, Dorasamy—Discharged from prison. (/0, 21 May 1910). Released
from prison on 15 December 1910. (0, 24 December 1910).

PADIACHY, G.—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909).

PADIACHY, Govinda—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March
1910. ({0, 19 March 1910).

PADIACHY, Govindasamy (Govindsamy, Govindu)—Sentenced to six weeks in
1910. ({0, 19 February and 5 and 12 March 1910).

PADIACHY, K.—Sentenced to three days with hard labour. (O, October 24,
1908).

PADIACHY, K.K. Samy—Arrested after he replaced Thambi Naidoo as chief
picket. ({0, 20 February 1909).

PADIACHY, Kanaka—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March 1910.
(IO, 19 March 1910).

PADIACHY, Kanga—Sentenced to deportation. ({0, 12 March 1910).

PADIACHY, Komarasamy—Awaiting trial. (0, 19 February 1910).

PADIACHY, M.P.—Arrested. ({0, 26 June 1909).

PADIACHY, Madura Muthu—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned
to Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PADIACHY, N. Govindraj—Released from prison. (/0, 12 December 1908).
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PADIACHY, N. Packery—Sentenced to one week with hard labour. (O, 3
October 1908).

PADIACHY, N.S.—Sentenced to prison in 1909. Released in January 1910.

PADIACHY, Naransamy—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (0, 31
December 1910).

PADIACHY, Pana—Arrested. (/0, 26 June 1909).

PADIACHY, R.K.—Arrested. ({0, 26 June 1909).

PADIACHY, Ramswami—Sentenced to three months with hard labour in
December 1913 for crossing the Cape-Transvaal border near Kimberley. (10,
10 December 1913).

PADIACHY, Ranga—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. (0, 5 September 1908).

PADIACHY, S.—Ordered to be deported. ({0, 4 June 1910).

PADIACHY, S. Kumarsamy—Released after serving three months with hard
labour. He served five terms of imprisonment during the satyagraha in the
Transvaal. Early in November 1913, he went to Natal and ‘performed excellent
work at Tongaat and Verulam in connection with the issuing of rations’. (10,
22 May 1909; 4 March 1914).

PADIACHY, S. Muthukowara—“Well-known Satyagrahi’. Served four terms in
prison. (/0, 28 January 1914).

PADIACHY, S.O.—Sentenced on 25 January 1909 to 21 days for trading without
licence. (10, 30 January 1909).

PADIACHY, S.P.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908). He went
to Natal in the third phase of the satyagraha when the strike was at its height
and worked with Lalbahadur Singh in feeding the strikers in Verulam and
tending the sick. (O, 4 March 1914).

PADIACHY, S. Valoo (Vallu)—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for
hawking without licence. (10, 5 September 1908). Deported from the Transvaal
to India, returned to Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth.
({0, 1 October 1910).

PADIACHY, Sahala (Suhala)—Arrested. (/0, 26 June 1909).

PADIACHY, Subramany—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PADIACHY, V. Doorasamy (Durasamy)—Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban, not allowed
to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/0, 29 January, 1 October 1910).

PADIACHY, V. Govindsami—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for
hawking without licence. ({0, 5 September 1908).

PADIACHY, V.K.—Sentenced on 25 January 1909 to 21 days for trading without
licence. (10, 30 January 1909).

PADIACHY, V. Maalaya—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0, 6
February 1909).
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PADIACHY, V. Madhurasamy—Arrested. (10, 26 June 1909).

PADIACHY, V.S.—Sentenced on 25 January 1909 to 21 days for trading without
licence. (10, 30 January 1909).

PADIACHY, Valoo—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (IO, 5
November, 1910).

PADIACHY, Veeramuthu—Hawker. Deported from the Transvaal to India,
returned to Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (O, 1
October 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

PADIACHY, Velloo—Awaiting deportation. (/0, 28 May 1910).

PADYACHI, A. Ramsamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (Z0,
20 February 1909).

PADYACH]I, V. Mootaranga—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (10,
20 February 1909).

PADYACHY, Arnashalai—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 20
February 1909).

PAKARI, A.—Jailed in November 1908. ({0, 21 November 1908).

PAKARI, A.—Hawker. Jailed in December 1908. ({0, 19 December 1908).

PALANI, Moorugan—Cartage contractor. Born in Natal and possessed Natal
domicile certificate. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2
June 1910. Wife and four children in the Transvaal. ({0, 23 July 1910; Inp REv,
June 1910).

PALANI, P.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908.(/0, 21 November
and 19 December 1908).

PALANI, Pavadai—Awaiting trial. (/O, 19 February 1910).

PALIAM, Durasamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PANDIAH, Samy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban
and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PANDIT, Ram Sunder (Sundara)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

PANDOR, Mr.—Arrested and released on bail. (/0, 12 September 1908).

PAPAVA—Released from prison. (0, 25 March 1911).

PAPPAH (Pappiah)—of Natal. Sentenced to three months with hard labour in
October 1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (/0, 22 and 29 October
1913).

PARAG, Dyah—Sentenced on 21 July 1908, to four days for hawking without
licence. He paid licence fee but refused to register under the Asiatic Act. ({0,
25 July 1908).

PARBHU, Dahya—of Johannesburg. Sentenced on 9 October 1913 to ten days
with hard labour. ({0, 22 October 1913).

PARBHU, Dayal—Hawked without licence in Johannesburg, but not arrested.
({0, 22 October 1913).

PARMAL, Nala—Sentenced to six weeks. ({0, 5 and 12 March 1910).
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PARMANAND, Nahaur Dookhie—Born in Pietermaritzburg in 1894. One of
the leaders of the strike in Pietermaritzburg in 1913. Arrested and released on
bail. (Brampaw). Charges of incitement were dropped.

PATEL, Ajani Sidoo (Azam Sedu)—Charged for not producing a registration
certificate on demand after crossing the Natal-Transvaal border, and sentenced
to three months with hard labour. Detained and deported. ({0, August 15 and
29, 1908).

PATEL, B.K.—Charged with promoting strike and inciting violence. (/0, 17
December 1913).

PATEL, Behman—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal by noon on 31 January. ({0, 25 January 1908).

PATEL, Bhana B.—of Kimberley. Sentenced to three months with hard labour
in December 1913 for crossing the Cape-Transvaal border near Kimberley. (/0,
10 December 1913).

PATEL, Chatoorbhai Laloobhai—of Standerton. Chairman of Local Committee.
Twenty years in the Transvaal. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour for
trading without licence. (0, 1 and 15 August 1908).

PATEL, Ebrahim Mahomed—of Vereeniging. Merchant. Fined £1-7-6 in August
1908 without option of prison. ({0, 15 and 29 August 1908). His goods were
auctioned. They sold goods worth £20 and awarded £6-5-6 to the messenger
as his expenses. ({0, 5 September 1908).

PATEL, Ebrahim Mahomed—of Potchefstroom. (/O, 1 February 1908).

PATEL, Ismail Amod—Born in Kholvad, India, in 1886. Arrived in South Africa
and settled in Bloemhof, Transvaal, as a general dealer. Sentenced to seven days
with hard labour for refusing to give thumb impressions. ({0, 28 August and
5 September 1908; Brampaw)

PATEL, Lalbhai—Satyagrahi in the first phase. (0, 18 January 1908).

PATEL, M.J.—Released after six weeks with hard labour. (/O, 26 November
1910).

PATEL, Maganbhai Haribhai—Resident and Sanskrit teacher at Phoenix Settle-
ment. Member of pioneer party of resisters from Phoenix Settlement in 1913,
sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard labour. Left for India
in 1915. (O, 1 October and 24 December 1913).

PATEL, M.M.—Secretary, Pretoria British Indian Committee. Picket. Sentenced
to three months with hard labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal
({0, 13 July 1907; 1 February 1908). He told the court that he had been born
under the British flag. His father and members of his family were servants of
the British Government. For their faithful service they had received grants of
land. He was the first in his family to be brought before Court for a criminal
offence. He was going to prison for conscience sake. ({0, 1 February 1908).

PATEL, Mahomed Mamuji—of Mr. Bhayat’s store. Released on account of
ill-health. (O, 12 June 1909).
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PATEL, Moti Ragha—Nylstroom. Sentenced to four days hard labour for hawking
without licence. (0, 12 September 1908).

PATEL, Muljibhai Giridharlal—Member of Committee of British Indian Asso-
ciation. Picket. Sentenced on 22 July 1908 to four days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. Arrested again in August for failure to take out a
registration certificate and served with notice to leave the Transvaal within
seven days. He defied the order and was sentenced to one month with hard
labour. (0, 25 July, 1, 8 and 15 August, 19 September and 3 October 1908;
Navar, p. 317).

PATEL, Naranbhai Ramjee—Born in Varad, Bardoli, India, in 1887. Arrived in
South Africa in 1905 and started business as general dealer. Was sentenced to 14
days during the Satyagraha. Was Vice-President of British Indian Association.
(BRAMDAW).

PATEL, Nathoobhai Mawjee—Born in Vankaner, Bardoli, India, in 1897.
Arrived in South Africa in 1903, and started a fruit and produce business in
Johannesburg in 1910. Took part in the Satyagraha and was sentenced to two
weeks in 1908. (BrAMDAW).

PATEL, Raojibhai Manibhai—Went to Natal in 1910 and was in family business
in Stanger for a short time. He met Gandhi in 1912 and left the business to
join Phoenix Settlement. Member of pioneer party of resisters from Phoenix
Settlement in 1913, sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard
labour. Was teacher and compositor at ndian Opinion. Lifelong associate of
Gandhi. Freedom fighter and social worker. Author of Gandhijini Sadhana.
(IO, 1 October and 24 December 1913).

PATEL, Somabhai V.—of Heidelberg. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. (O, 27 February 1909).

PATEL, Somabhai Vithalbhai—Born in Bandhani, Baroda State. Arrived in
Durban in 1904, worked for a short time at Indian Opinion and also taught.
Moved to the Transvaal in 1905. “Took active part in the passive resistance
struggle of 1907-8, suffering three months’ hard labour in the Volksrust and
Houtpoort gaols. Those in gaol at the same time with him included M.K.
Gandhi, Parsee Rustomjee and others whom he entertained with songs, being
a singer of some ability.” (Brampaw).

PATHER, Chella—Transferred on 9 April 1910, from the Transvaal to Delagoa
Bay to be deported to India. (JO, 16 April 1910).

PATHER, M.—Deported from the Transvaal. ({0, 14 August 1909).

PATHER, M. Moonsamy—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

PATHER, Marutha Muthu—Goldsmith. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived
in Bombay. (/0, 16 July 1910; INp REv, June 1910).

PATHER, Muthramoothoo—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking
without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).
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PATHER, Nadasa—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).

PATHER, S.S.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour for managing E.I.
Aswat’s store. ({0, 5 June 1909).

PAUL, Chinasamy—Arrested and ordered deported. He was 16-years-old.
Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban and was admitted.
({0, 30 April, 14 May and 1 October 1910).

PAUL, John—Returned from deportation in India and crossed the Transvaal
border from the Cape. Arrested in Christiana. (/0, 3 December 1910).

PAUL, Maduray George—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PAUL, Moonoosamy—Wiaiter at the Trocadero Restaurant in the Transvaal.
Deported from the Transvaal to India. (0, 2,9 and 16 April and 16 July 1910).

PAUL, Moonsamy—Natal-born Indian. Returned to Durban after deportation
from the Transvaal to India but was sent back to India. (/O, 18 June 1910).

PAUL, Moonsamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban
and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PAVANI (PAYANI)—Bottle seller. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in
Bombay. ({0, 16 July 1910).

PELANI, Morgan—Ordered to be deported from the Transvaal. ({0, 16 April
1910).

PEMA, Vassan—Sentenced to three months with hard labour for managing E.I.
Aswat’s store. ({0, 12 June 1909).

PENTIAH, Samy—Released after six weeks with hard labour. (O, 26 November
1910).

PERMAL—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 5 November 1910).

PERUMAL, Govindsami—Waiter, educated. Born in Natal with both parents
in Natal. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. Was then 22. ({0,
16 July 1910; IND REV, June 1910).

PERUMAL, Valoo—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban,
not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PETER, N. Candasamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PETER, N.K.—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard labour
for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907; 1 February 1908).
Arrested again. ({0, 2 January and 26 June 1909).

PETER, R.C.—Transferred on 9 April 1910 from the Transvaal to Delagoa Bay
to be deported to India. (0, 16 April 1910).

PETER, V.N.—Arrested. ({0, 26 June 1909).

PETERS, S.A.—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (/O,
10 July 1909).

PHILLIP, Madurai alias A.R.—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned
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to Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (JO, 1 October
1910).

PIETERS, Kandasamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 20
February 1909).

PILLAI—See also ‘PILLAY".

PILLAI, C. Rungasami—Hawker. Was thrice in prison. Deported from the
Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. Was then 60. (O, 23 July
1910; InD REV, June 1910).

PILLAIL K. Chinasami—Cigar-maker. Born in Cape Colony. Had Natal domicile
certificate. Deported from the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. Had mother,
wife and two children in Johannesburg. (0, 16 July 1910; InD Rev, June 1910).

PILLAI, Manikkam—Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Bombay in May
1910. ({0, 16 July 1910).

PILLAI, Marumuthoo—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 7
August, 1909).

PILLAI, N. Ganapathi—Cigar-maker. Born in Cape. Aged 19. Deported from
the Transvaal, landed in Bombay in May 1910. (O, 16 July 1910).

PILLAI, N. Govindasami—Cigar-maker. Born in Cape Colony. Deported from
the Transvaal. Arrived in Bombay. He was then 22. (0, 16 July 1910; Inp REv,
June 1910).

PILLAIL R.S. Chokkalingam—Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Bombay
in May 1910. (/O, 16 July 1910). He was then 40 years old and had to leave
wife and nine children in Natal. He had lived in Natal and the Transvaal since
he was 6, and obtained a Natal Education Certificate. (Indian Review, Madras,
June 1910).

PILLAI Veera—General dealer. Born in Mauritius. Was Head Inspector of Indian
Location under Boer Government. Deported from the Transvaal to India in
1910. Left a family of five in the Transvaal. (Inp RV, June 1910).

PILLAI, Vengadasamy—Awaiting trial. (/O, 19 February 1910).

PILLAY—See also ‘PILLAT.

PILLAY, A.B.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 14 August
1909).

PILLAY, A.D.—Led about 200 workers on strike in the ‘Great March’ from
Newcastle to Charlestown, 31 October 1913. ({0, 5 November 1913).

PILLAY, A. Govindasamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, A. Manika—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
(10, 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, Appasamy Madrai—Ordered deported from the Transvaal. (10, 21 May
1910).

PILLAY, Arokium—Arrested. Ordered deported from the Transvaal. (0, 21 May
1910).
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PILLAY, Miss Baikum Murugasa—She was one of the eleven Transvaal women
who went to Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian
workers in the mines about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work.
They were arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to
three months with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. Married P.V. Chettiar
in Johannesburg on 21 June 1914. ({0, 22 October 1913; 8 July 1914).

PILLAY, C.M.—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

PILLAY, C. Muthusamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (O, 11 January 1908; 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, C. Rungasamy—Deported to India from the Transvaal, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PILLAY, C.V.—of Natal. Charged with promoting a strike and inciting violence.
(IO, 17 December 1913).

PILLAY, Chokalingam—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PILLAY, D. Arumugam—~Satyagrahi. ({0, 17 June 1911).

PILLAY, Dorasamy—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, G.S.—Arrested. (O, 12 February 1910).

PILLAY, Gopal Nagan—Arrested. Ordered deported. ({0, 21 May 1910).

PILLAY, Govindaswamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
South Africa and allowed to land in Durban. Crossed into the Transvaal and
was arrested at Vereeniging on 22 August 1910. Brother of Kanapathy Pillay
(cf). (O, 18 June and 27 August 1910).

PILLAY, Govindsamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, but sent on to East London to prove domicile in Kimberley. (/O, 18
June 1910).

PILLAY, Govindsamy Naran—Worker at a European cigar factory in the
Transvaal. Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 9 April and 17
September 1910).

PILLAY, Gunputty—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban,
but sent on to East London to prove domicile in Kimberley. (/0, 18 June 1910).

PILLAY, Mrs. K. Chinsamy (Chinnaswami)—She was one of the eleven Transvaal
women who went to Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed
Indian workers in the mines about the situation and encouraged them to
suspend work. They were arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were
sentenced to three months with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. (10, 22
October 1913).

PILLAY, K. Govindasamy—Had served imprisonment. ({0, 17 June 1911).

PILLAY, K. Murugasa—Had served imprisonment. (0, 17 June 1911).

PILLAY, Mrs. K. Murugasa—She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who
went to Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers in
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the mines about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They were
arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three months
with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. She was pregnant when arrested.
A baby was born on 26 January 1914, soon after release. The baby—Sutheey-
anatham—died in November 1914. (IO, 22 October 1913; 2 December 1914).

PILLAY, Kanapathe Naran—Employee of a cigar factory in the Transvaal.
Arrested. (0, 9 April 1910).

Pillay, Kangasami—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without
licence. (10, 5 September 1908).

PILLAY, K.C.—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban, but
sent on to East London to prove domicile in Kimberley. (/0, 18 June 1910).

PILLAY, K. Rungasamy—Arrested. (0, 23 April 1910).

PILLAY, K.V. Sivalingha—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 23
October 1909).

PILLAY, Kanapathe—Worker at a European cigar factory in the Transvaal.
Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 9 April and 17 September
1910).

PILLAY, Kanapathy—Deported to India and returned to East London. Crossed
into the Transvaal and was arrested at Vereeniging on 22 August 1910. Brother
of Govindasamy Pillay (cf.). See also ‘PILLAY, Gunputty’. (/0, 27 August 1910).

PILLAY, Kangasami—Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without licence.
({0, 5 September 1908).

PILLAY, Karamuttu (Kurumuttu)—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour
in July 1908 for hawking without licence. ({0, 1 August 1908; Nav4r, p. 321).

PILLAY, Karpana (Karupana)—Satyagrahi, member of the PrETORIA TAmIL LEAGUE.
({0, 2 January 1909).

PILLAY, Kumarsamy Krishnasamy—Born in Tanjore on 28 December 1867.
Arrived in South Africa in 1884. Opened a general dealer’s store in Durban.
Took part in the satyagraha in the Transvaal in 1908. (Brampaw).

PILLAY, Lingam Vydilingam—Cartage contractor. Born in Mauritius. Possessed
Natal domicile certificate. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo
on 2 June 1910. Left wife and two children in the Transvaal. (/0, 23 July 1910;
IND REV, June 1910).

PILLAY, Miss Minachi—She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who went
to Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers in the
mines about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They were
arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three months
with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. ({0, 22 October 1913).

PILLAY, Mys. M.B.—She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who went to
Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers in the
mines about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They were
arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three months
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with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. ({0, 22 October 1913).

PILLAY, Manikkam—Studied at Higher Grade Indian School and later at
Phoenix School. Crossed Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and eleven
others in March 1910. Deported to India. He was about 17. (0, 19 March
and 16 April 1910; Ivp Rev, June 1910).

PILLAY, M. Nayanah—Satyagrahi. (0, 17 June 1911).

PILLAY, M. Perumal—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PILLAY, M. Ruthnam—Arrested on 18 October 1913 for crossing the Cape-Trans-
vaal border, remanded for several days and discharged on 4 November 1913.
(IO, 5 November 1913).

PILLAY, M.A.—of Standerton. Deported. ({0, 27 February 1909).

PILLAY, M.R.—of Natal. Sentenced to three months with hard labour in October
1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (/0, 22 and 29 October 1913).

PILLAY, M. Sivalingam—Hawker. Sentenced to seven days in August 1908 for
trading without licence. (0, 15 August 1908).

PILLAY, Madrimuthu—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

PILLAY, Manikkam—A student at Phoenix. He was arrested in March 1910
when he crossed the Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and several others.
He was 17. (IO, 5 and 19 March 1910).

PILLAY, Mootookumara—of Standerton. Deported. ({0, 27 February 1909).

PILLAY, Mrs. N. (Parenithama)—Mother of Veerammal (Mrs. Thambi Naidoo)
and N.S. Pillay. She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who went to Natal
in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers in the mines
about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They were arrested
at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three months with
hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. Oldest of the women Satyagrahis. (O,
22 October 1913).

PILLAY, Narayana Kanabathy—Born in Kimberley on 22 September 1892.
Active in community affairs in Kimberley. “Took part in the first passive
resistance movement in the Transvaal, 1907-10, and with other members of
his family, suffered three terms of imprisonment, thereafter deported to India,
1910; returned soon after because of his colonial birth.” Also participated in the
struggle in 1913—14 for the repeal of the three pound tax. (Brampaw).

PILLAY, N.G.—Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa Bay
to be deported to India. (0, 16 April 1910).

PILLAY, N.K.—Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa Bay
to be deported to India. A deportee in the second phase, he returned to the
Transvaal via a port in the Cape province. At the beginning of November 1913
he went to the strike centre and was, with Sheikh Makdoom, in charge of the
strikers’ families in Charlestown. He made several attempts to be arrested at
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the border but without success. ({0, 16 April 1910; 4 March 1914).

PILLAY, N.S.—Brother of Mrs. Thambi Naidoo. Picket. Jailed in November
and December 1908 for hawking without licence. Ill-treated in prison. Later
sentenced twice to three months with hard labour. (/O, 3 October, 21 November
and 19 December 1908; 6 February and 23 October 1909).

PILLAY, Mys. N.S. (Lachimi)—Sister-in-law of Veerammal, wife of Thambi
Naidoo. She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who went to Natal in the
third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers in the mines about
the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They were arrested at
Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three months with hard
labour under the Vagrancy Act. (0, 22 October 1913).

PILLAY, Nalapama—Ordered to be deported from the Transvaal to India. (/0,
4 June 1910).

PILLAY, Narayansamy—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 5 and
12 March 1910).

PILLAY, Nyna—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (Z0,
10 July 1909).

PILLAY, Packiri—Ordered to be deported from the Transvaal to India. (/O, 4
June 1910).

PILLAY, R.—Jailed in 1913 and released in January 1914.

PILLAY, Rajoo—Satyagrahi. (PreToriA TAMIL LEAGUE).

PILLAY, R.C.—Released on 15 December 1910. (O, 24 December 1910). May be
same as R. Chinasamy Pillay, who was sentenced on return from deportation.

PILLAY, R.C.S.—Satyagrahi. ({0, 17 June 1911).

PILLAY, R. Chinasamy—Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to
Delagoa Bay to be deported to India. (/O, 16 April 1910).

PILLAY, R. Kanagasubi—Jailed on 14 August 1908. (/0, 12 September 1908).

PILLAY, R.S. Chokalingam—General dealer. Deported from the Transvaal to
India on 18 March 1910. Wife and 9 children left in Natal. (/O, 19 March
1910; InD REV, June 1910).

PILLAY, Rangasamy—Deported. (0, 19 March 1910).

PILLAY, Rungasamy—~Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/0, 23
October 1909).

PILLAY, S.—Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. He had already been in jail
four times. ({0, 25 September 1909).

PILLAY, S. Chinia—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, S.D. Ernest—Satyagrahi. (0, 17 June 1911).

PILLAY, S. Karoopanna—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, S. Murthramoothoo—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for
hawking without licence. ({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).
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PILLAY, S. Punusamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (O, 1 October 1910).

PILLAY, S.R.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).

PILLAY, ST.—Hawker, Jailed in November and December 1908. (O, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PILLAY, Savery—Hawker. Jailed on 14 August 1908 for hawking without licence.
({0, 12 September 1908).

PILLAY, Selmar T.—Arrested in the Transvaal in April 1910 and deported to
Natal. ({0, 9 and 16 April 1910).

PILLAY, Singaravalloo—Arrested and ordered deported to Natal. (/O, 30 April
1910).

PILLAY, Sinnappa Rangasamy—Sentenced in July 1908 to seven days with hard
labour for hawking without licence. (0, 1 August 1908).

PILLAY, Soo. Rangasamy—=Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

PILLAY, Soopia (Subbiah)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

PILLAY, Sundaram—Sentenced to three months. (/0, 2 April 1910).

PILLAY, V.S.—Chairman, PreroriA Tamir LEAGUE. Deported from the Transvaal to
Natal. Sentenced to six months with hard labour, and again to three months
with hard labour. (O, 2 January, 20 February and 23 October 1909).

PILLAY, Mrs. V.S.—She was a member of the second batch of eight Transvaal
women who went to Natal in order to explain the £3 tax to indentured workers
and encourage them to suspend work until the government undertook to
abolish the tax. They were sentenced in December 1913 to three months with
hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. She was then over 50 years
old. ({0, 24 December 1913).

PILLAY, Valoo—Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing the
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

PILLAY, Veera—Deported from the Transvaal to India in March 1910, returned
to Durban and was admitted. He was a Transvaal resident for 22 years. Before
the war, he was in the employ of the Boer government. (0, 26 March, 16 April
and 1 October 1910).

PILLAY, Veloo Dorasamy—Arrested. Ordered deported from the Transvaal. (10,
21 May 1910).

PILLAY, Venketsamy—Deported from the Transvaal to India on 18 March 1910.
(I0, 19 March 1910).

PITAMBER—Sentenced. (/O, 4 March 1911).

POONA, Narottam—of Windsorton. Sentenced in December 1913 to three
months with hard labour for crossing the Cape-Transvaal border near Kimberley.
({0, 10 December 1913).

PONOOSAMY, S.—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).
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POONOOSAMY—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 12
November 1910).

POONOSAMY, P.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

POONSAMY, Thomas—of Boksburg. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour.
({10, 26 February 1910).

POONSAMY, V.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/O, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

PRAG, Goolab—of Krugersdorp. Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. (/O,
30 January 1909).

PRAG, Govind—of Pretoria. Picket. Charged on 13 November 1907 with
incitement and assault—for threatening an Indian who wished to register.
Charges withdrawn when the Indian denied assault. (O, 13 July and 13 and
23 November 1907; NavAr, p. 136). Sentenced to three months with hard labour
for defying order to leave the Transvaal (O, 1 February 1908).

PREMJ], Jiwan (Jeevan)—Chairman, Patidar Association. Hawked in Johannes-
burg without licence, but was not arrested. (/0, 22 October 1913).

PREM]JI, Mawji— Vice-Chairman, Patidar Association. Hawked in Johannesburg
without licence, but was not arrested. (/0, 22 October 1913).

PURBHOO, Dhaya—Released after serving ten days for hawking without licence.
({0, 22 October 1913).

PURUSHOTTAMDAS—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (/0, 2 January
1909).

RAGA, Daya—Sentenced to seven days with hard labour for hawking without
licence. (10, 26 September 1908).

RAGHUNANDAN-—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (O, 12 November
1910).

RAGLOO, V.—of Houtpoort. Dismissed from job as cook to jail officials. (10,
15 May 1909).

RAHIMKHAN—See ‘'KHAN, Rahim’.

RAHMAN, Abdool—of Heidelberg. Picket. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Arrested
on 16 January 1908 for not having registered under the Asiatic Act and ordered
to leave the Transvaal within 48 hours. He defied the order and was sentenced
to two months. ([0, 25 January 1908).

RAHMAN, Abdool—of Roodepoort. Arrested. (/O, December 4, 1909).

RAHMAN, Abdul—Secretary of Indian Association in Potchefstroom. Born in
Mauritius. ({0, 1 February 1908). Charged in December 1909 with trading
without licence. Sentenced in 1910 to ten days imprisonment.

RAJA, K. Govind—TJailed in November 1908. (/O, 21 November 1908).

RAJA, Moosa—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave
the Transvaal by noon on 31 January. ({0, 25 January 1908).

RAJA, Moosa—of Ventersdorp. Sentenced to ten days with hard labour. (0, 12
and 21 November 1908).
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RAJKUMAR-—Member of a Natal batch who entered the Transvaal. Sentenced
to three months on 24 March 1910. (/0, 2 July 1910; 4 March 1911).

RAJOO, Govindaswami (Master Govindrajulu)—Student at Phoenix Settlement.
He was one of fifteen pioneer passive resisters in the third phase of Satyagraha.
They left the Phoenix Settlement on 15 September 1913, and crossed the Trans-
vaal border. They were sentenced on 23 September to three months with hard
labour. ({0, 1 October 1913).

RAJOO, S.P.—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (/0, 31 October and 12
December 1908).

RAJU, K. Govind—Hawker. Jailed in December 1908. (IO, 19 December 1908).

RAMA—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without licence.
({0, 5 and 12 September 1908).

RAMA, Sita—Sentenced in May 1909 to 14 days with hard labour. (0, 22
May 1909).

RAMALINGAM, Tomi—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. (/0,
21 November and 19 December 1908).

RAMALINGAM, Mrs. Tommy—She was one of the eleven Transvaal women who
went to Natal in the third phase of the Satyagraha, informed Indian workers in
the mines about the situation and encouraged them to suspend work. They were
arrested at Newcastle on 21 October 1913 and were sentenced to three months
with hard labour under the Vagrancy Act. ({0, 22 October 1913). [Sometimes
the name is printed in error as ‘R.A. Malingam’].

RAMAMMA (RAMAHMAH), Ms.—Worker at Durban Navigation Collieries.
Sentenced to seven days. ({0, 5 November 1913).

RAMAMOODLY, R.M.—See ‘MOODLY, R.M. Rama’.

RAMASAMY—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (O,
10 July 1909).

RAMASAMY, Kathia—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910; INp REV, June 1910).

RAMASWAMY—Sentenced in July 1908 to seven days with hard labour for
hawking without licence. ({0, 1 August 1908).

RAMBORRY (RAMHORY)—Born in Natal. Former Transvaal resident.
Formerly assistant teacher at Railway Indian School, Durban. A member of
Phoenix Settlement, studying for the Durban Teachers’ School certificate.
Crossed Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and 11 others in March 1910.
Sentenced to three months with hard labour. He was about 26 years old. ({0,
19 March, 2 and 9 April, 1910).

RAMDEN, Mahabeer (Rajcoomar)—Popularly known as Rajcoomar. Born in
Natal. Educated at Victoria Street School. A printer by profession. Crossed the
Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and 11 others in March 1910. Deported.
(IO, 19 March 1910).

RAMIAH, Kistappa—Was taken to the Transvaal during the Anglo-Boer War
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as military laundryman. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on
2 June 1910. Wife and two children in the Transvaal. (0, 23 July 1910; Inp
REV, June 1910).

RAM]JI, Bhana—~Sentenced to one month with hard labour for not complying
with order to leave the Transvaal. ({0, 12 September 1908).

RAM]JI, Diar—Laundryman. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo
on 2 June 1910. He was 24. ({0, 23 July 1910; INnp REV, June 1910).

RAM]JI, Hira—Released from prison. (/0, 25 March 1911).

RAM]JI, Kistapa—Released after serving six weeks with hard labour. (10, 26
November 1910).

RAMKISSOON (RAMKISSEN), P.—of Natal. Sentenced to three months with
hard labour in October 1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 22
and 29 October 1913).

RAMLAGAN-—Ordered to be deported. (/0, 11 June 1910).

RAMNARAIN (RAMNARAYAN)—See ‘SINGH, Ramnarain’.

RAMSAMY—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban and
was admitted. (/O, 1 October, 1910).

RAMSAMY, Kathia—Natal-born Indian. Returned to Durban after deportation
from the Transvaal to India but was sent back to India. (/O, 18 June 1910).
RAMSARAN-—Released from prison on 15 December. (/0, 24 December 1910).
RAMTULA, Nanumia—Merchant. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act.

({0, 25 January 1908).

RANA, Dhana—Fisherman of Bronkhorst Spruit. Sentenced to one month with
hard labour for fishing without licence. ({0, 3 October 1908).

RANCHAND, Narsai—Hawked without licence in Johannesburg but was not
arrested. (/O, 5 November 1913).

RANCHHOD, Ratanji (Rathanjee)—Arrested in the Transvaal and transferred
to Delagoa Bay to be deported to India. (O, 9 and 16 April 1910).

RANCHHOD, S.—Satyagrahi. (0, 4 March 1911).

RANCHHOD, Vassan—of Germiston. Sentenced to three days with hard labour.
(IO, 3 October 1908).

RANCHOD, Jeram—~Sentenced in Volksrust in December 1913 for crossing the
Natal-Transvaal border. ({0, 31 December 1913).

RANDEREE, Javerbhai—Child sentenced to one month with hard labour for
defying order to leave the Transvaal. Released after serving one month. Arrested
soon after release. ({0, 12 September and 3 October 1908).

RANDERIA, Shapurji Jivanji—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

RANDERWALA, Vally Amodji—Sentenced in 1908 to six weeks.

RANGASAMY—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (0,
10 July 1909).

RANGASAMY, Harry—of Boksburg, Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour.
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({10, 26 February 1910).

RASHID, Goolam Abdool—Arrested. ({0, 11 January 1908).

RASHID, Goolam Mahomed—of Pretoria. Picket. Satyagrahi in the first phase.
Did not register under the Asiatic Act. Ordered to leave the Transvaal and
defied the order. Sentenced to three months with hard labour. Also sentenced
to a fine or another three months with hard labour. ({0, 13 July 1907; 11 and
18 January 1908).

RATANJEE—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave
the Transvaal by noon on 31 January. (/O, 25 January 1908).

RATANTJI, Mulji—Pre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at Volksrust after
crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/0, 10 October 1908).

RAVIKRISHNA—From Phoenix school. Now in prison. (0, 9 January 1909).

RAV]JI, Samji—Released from prison. ({0, 25 March 1911).

RAZAK, Abdul—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 13 and 20
March 1909).

ROBERT (Karim), .LK.—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and was admitted. (/O, 1 October 1910).

ROBERT, S.D.—of Potchefstroom. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered to leave
the Transvaal by noon on 31 January. ({0, 25 January 1908).

ROBERT (ROBERTS), S.K.—Waiter and cook. Born in Natal. Deported from
the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. Had wife and three children
in Natal. (/O, 30 April and 23 July 1910; Inp Rev, June 1910).

ROYEPPEN, Joseph—See ‘Biographical Notes'.

ROYEPPEN, Solomon—Nephew of Joseph Royeppen. Member of pioneer party
of resisters from the Phoenix Settlement in 1913, sentenced on 23 September to
three months with hard labour. While in Maritzburg jail as passive resister, he
suffered from hernia and was operated on 21 February 1914, soon after release.
(10, 1 October and 24 December 1913; 25 February 1914).

RUGNATH, Ratanji—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. ({0, 17 October
1908).

RUNGASAMY—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 5 November
1910).

RUPA, Fakir—of Roodepoort. Sentenced to seven days with hard labour in July
1908 for hawking without licence. (0, 1 and 8 August 1908).

RUSTOMJEE (RUSTOM]JI), Parsi (Parsee)—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

RUSTOMJEE (RUSTOM]JI), Sorabji—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

SACHA, M.E.—Arrested. (O, 25 December 1909).

SAHEB, Shahji—Satyagrahi in the first phase. Ordered on 23 January 1908 to
leave the Transvaal within 14 days for not registering under the Asiatic Act.
({0, 25 January 1908).

SAHI, Abdul—~Satyagrahi. Three pound tax payer. ({0, 8 October 1913).

SAHIB, Dada—Waiting for deportation from the Transvaal to India. (0, 26
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February 1910).

SAKRAVANY—Arrested. (/O, 5 and 12 March 1910).

SALE, Ismail Ahmed—of Heidelberg. Deported from the Transvaal. (/0, 27
February 1909).

SALE (SALEH, SALEJI), Omar (Omarji)— Vice-Chairman of Hamidia Islamic
Society and a leader of the British Indian Association. Picket. Satyagrahi in
the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908). Deported from the Transvaal to Natal.
Arrested when he returned. Sentenced to three months without hard labour
because of his advanced age, 65. Served another prison term in 1909. (O, 3
October 1908; 2 January and 20 and 27 February 1909).

SAMI, A.—of Windsorton, Northern Cape. Sentenced in December 1913 to
three months with hard labour for crossing the Cape-Transvaal border near
Kimberley. (O, 10 December 1913).

SAMY, Dhobi—Arrested and ordered to be deported. (10, 9 April 1910).

SAMY, K.K.—Secretary of Tamil Benefit Society and chief picket. Jailed in
November and December 1908. (/O, 21 November and 19 December 1908).
Sentenced in February 1909 to three months with hard labour. (/O, 27 February
1909). Sentenced again to three months with hard labour. (0, 6 March 1909).
Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and 11 others, and was again
sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 9 April 1910).

SANGARAM—of Krugersdorp. Laundryman. Sentenced to three days. (0, 19
September 1908).

SANGARAM, Ismail Essopjee—Pretoria. Arrested in September 1908. ({0, 19
September 1908).

SEBA. Chhana—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 6 February
1909).

SEBASTIAN, Antony—of Natal. Sentenced to three months with hard labour in
October 1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (/0, 22 and 29 October
1913).

SEBASTIAN, Louis—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. Again
sentenced to 14 days in prison in Christiana. Then re-crossed the Transvaal
border from Bloemfontein, and was arrested. (0, 7 and 14 January, 11 March
and 7 November 1911).

SETH, V.U.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. He was charged for not registering
and was, at his request, remanded until 30 January when all prisoners were
released. (/0, 4 January 1908).

SHAH, Khimchand Jootha—Sentenced twice to three months with hard labour.
({0, 27 March and 14 August 1909). Was in poor health. ({0, 12 June 1909).

SHAH, Mahomed—of Germiston. Tried on 19 November 1907, for picketing
registration offices. (/0, 23 November 1907).

SHAH, Marur (Marub)—Mattress-maker. Deported from the Transvaal, landed
in Bombay in May 1910. (/0, 16 July 1910).
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SHAH, Nanalal Valji—A Jain. Educated Indian in the Transvaal who had studied
at the University of Bombay. He served nearly a year in prison without break.
He was sentenced to two terms of six months with hard labour in 1909. Imme-
diately after release in 1910, he was arrested and deported from the Transvaal
to Natal. His health was undermined and he had to take rest in Durban. (O,
6 March and 11 September 1909; 29 January and 5 and 12 February 1910).

SHAM]JI, Visram—Sentenced. (/O, 4 March 1911).

SHANKERSINGH, Ramnarayan —Sentenced to three months with hard
labour. (O, 20 February 1909)

SHAPURJI ADAJANIA (of Adajan), Sorabji—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

SHARFOODEEN—Picket. Charged on 13 November 1907 with incitement and
assault—for threatening an Indian who wished to register. Charges withdrawn
when the Indian denied assault. (/O, 23 November 1907; Navar, p. 136).

SHELAT, Umashankar Manchharam—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

SHETH—of Pretoria. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Charged for not registering
under the Asiatic Act, and ordered to leave the Transvaal. Defied the order.
({0, 11 January and 11 February 1908).

SHETH, V.M.—of Pretoria. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Sentenced to three
months with hard labour. (O, 25 January 1908).

SHETH, V.U.—of Pretoria. Appeared in Court on 28 December 1907 for not
registering under the Asiatic Act. (0, 4 January 1908). Released from prison
at the end of January after provisional agreement.

SHINTRUM, Soni—Served seven days in prison with hard labour for hawking
without licence.

SHIVAPRASAD—See ‘SIVAPRASAD’.

SHROFF, S.W.—of Natal. Charged in Verulam in December 1913 with incite-
ment. Charges withdrawn later. (0, 31 December 1913).

SIDAT, Moosa Ahmed—of Heidelberg. Deported. (/0, 27 February 1909).

SIDIK, Mahomed—Butcher. Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (Z0, 31
October 1908).

SIDOO, Cassim—of Pretoria. Picket. ({0, 13 July 1907).

SING—See also ‘SINGH’.

SINGARAVELOO—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (/0, 14 January
and 11 March 1911). Released after serving 14 days in prison in Christiana. (/O,
7 November 1911). Then re-crossed the Transvaal border from Bloemfontein,
and was arrested. ({0, 7 January 1911).

SINGARUVELOO—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban,
not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

SINGH, Arjoon (Arjun)—Member of Natal Indian Association. Charged in
November 1913 with incitement to strike. Charges withdrawn later. (10, 26
November and 17 December 1913).

SINGH, B. Lalbahadur—Chairman of the Germiston Indian community.
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Deported from the Transvaal to Natal. When the strike was at its height in
1913, he went to Verulam and ‘performed signal service in feeding the strikers
there and tending the sick. A gaol-bird of the previous campaign, he was not
fortunate enough to be arrested this time.” (/0, 20 February 1909; 4 March
1914).

SINGH, Mrs. B. Lalbahadur—One of six women and ten men who hawked without
licence in Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. (/0, 15 October 1913).

SINGH, Barjor (Burjor)—Born in Natal. Studied at Higher Grade Indian School.
Trolley checker under a European firm. Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border
with Gandhi and 11 others in March 1910. Sentenced to three months with
hard labour. He was then 20 years old. (/0, 19 March and 9 April 1910). Stayed
at Tolstoy Farm after release in June. He left the farm and went to Natal because
of his father’s illness. (/0, 6 August 1910).

SINGH, H.—One of six women and ten men who hawked without licence in
Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. ({0, 15 October 1913).

SINGH, Hari—Sentenced to six weeks with hard labour. (O, 29 October 1910).

SINGH, Harry—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban and
was allowed to land. ({0, 18 June 1910).

SINGH, (Babu) Hazura—Born in Ludhiana district, Punjab, India, in 1878.
Arrived in Durban in 1900 and later moved to the Transvaal where he started
business as general dealer in Germiston. Joined the satyagraha and suffered
several terms of imprisonment. Was a resister until the end. (Brampaw). Chairman
of Hindu Society, Germiston. Ordered in January 1908 to leave the Transvaal
within 48 hours for not registering under the Asiatic Act. ({0, 1 February 1908).
Arrested and deported from the Transvaal to Natal in February 1909. (10, 1
February and 31 October 1908; 20 February 1909).

SINGH, Lahoria M.—One of six women and ten men who hawked without
licence in Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. ({0, 15 October 1913).

SINGH, Mangal—of Boksburg. Sentenced to a fine of £2 or eight days for
hawking without licence. He chose to pay the fine though he had announced
that he would go to jail. Gandhi condemned this. ({0, 25 July 1908)

SINGH, R.H.—One of six women and ten men who hawked without licence in
Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. ({0, 15 October 1913).

SINGH, Ragbeer—One of six women and ten men who hawked without licence
in Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. (O, 15 October 1913).

SINGH, Ramlal—Clerk. Crossed Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and five
others.

SINGH, Ramnarain (Ramnarayan)—of Germiston. Charged on 14 October 1913,
with inciting workers at Railway Barracks in Durban to strike and imprisoned
for a day. (O, 22 October 1913). Was in the ‘Great March’ with Gandhi and
was arrested at Standerton on 9 November 1913 on the charge of incitement.
He was sentenced to six months with hard labour, suspended for 12 months.
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(IO, 19 November 1913). He then went to Durban and assisted the resistance
in various ways until the provisional settlement. ({0, 11 March 1914).

SINGH, Ravikrishna—Born on 1 January 1888. On leaving school, joined
Satyagraha in 1913. Served two terms of imprisonment, six weeks and six
months. After the end of the struggle, returned to Verulam and joined father’s
business. Later a cane-farmer. (BRAMDAW)

SINGH, S.M.—One of six women and ten men who hawked without licence in
Germiston and were arrested in October 1913. ({0, 15 October 1913).

SINGH, Shivpal—of Tongaat. Discharged from Durban jail on 6 January 1914.
({0, 7 January 1914).

SINGH, Surajpal—Three pound tax payer. Satyagrahi. (/0, 8 October 1911).

SINGH, Tilok—One of six women and ten men who hawked in Germiston
without licence and were arrested. (0, 15 October 1913). He accompanied
Lalbahadur Singh from Germiston to Natal and did useful work in assisting
the indigent passive resisters encamped at the Farm New Germany in Pinetown.
({0, 4 March 1914).

SINGH, Tiloka—of Transvaal. Went with B. Lalbahadur Singh from Germiston to
Natal during the height of the Indian strike. Assisted Indian workers encamped
at the Farm New Germany in Pinetown. Jailed in 1913 and released in January
1914. (IO, 4 March 1914).

SINGH, V. Hari—Released from prison. (/0, 13 August 1910).

SINGLI (SINGLEE), Charlie—Sentenced in July 1908 to seven days with hard
labour for hawking without licence. (0, 1 August 1908).

SINHA, Ramnarayan—See ‘SINGH, Ramnarain’.

SINNA, Moonsamy—Natal-born Indian. Returned to Durban after deportation
from the Transvaal to India but was sent back to India. (/O, 18 June 1910).
SITA, Khusal—Pretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard labour

for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907; 1 February 1908).

SIVAPRASAD (SIVPRASAD), Mrs.—She was a member of the second batch of
eight Transvaal women who went to Natal in order to explain the £3 tax to
indentured workers and encourage them to suspend work until the govern-
ment undertook to abolish the tax. They were sentenced in December 1913 to
three months with hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. ({0,
24 December 1913).

SIVAPRASAD—Along with Bhawani Dayal, Gulabhdas and Raghubar, Sivprasad
left Germiston for Newcastle at the commencement of the strike. They were
arrested while moving among the indentured labourers and sentenced to three
months with hard labour. (/O, 4 March 1914).

SODHA, Ratanshi Mulji—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

SODHA, Rambhabai—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

SODHA, Revashankar Ratanshi—Son of Rambhabai and Ratanshi Sodha.
Student at Phoenix Settlement. Member of pioneer party of resisters from
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Phoenix Settlement in 1913, sentenced on 23 September to three months with
hard labour. He was then below the age of 18. (/O, 1 October and 24 December
1913).

SOLOMON, David—Waiter at Trocadero restaurant in the Transvaal. Sentenced
to three months with hard labour.(O, 6 February 1909). Ordered deported.
Transferred on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa Bay to be deported to India. ({0, 2, 9
and 16 April 1910).

SOMA, Manga—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 20 February
1909).

SOMAR, Mrs. T.—One of six women and ten men who hawked in Germiston
and got arrested in October 1913. She later joined the second batch of Transvaal
women passive resisters who went to Natal and encouraged the workers to
strike. She was then sentenced to three months with hard labour for crossing
the Natal-Transvaal border. (/0, 15 October and 24 December 1913).

SONI, Kara Nanji—An old Transvaal resident. Crossed the Natal-Transvaal
border with Gandhi and 11 others in March 1910. Sentenced on 24 March
1910, to three months with hard labour. He was then 35. ({0, 19 March and
9 April 1910; 4 March 1911).

SONI, Tulsi Jutha—OId Transvaal resident. Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border
with Gandhi and 11 others in March 1910. Sentenced on 24 March 1910 to
three months with hard labour. He was then about 30 years of age. (0, 19
March and 9 April 1910; 4 March 1911).

SONT, Valji Hari—Sentenced to three months, but not given hard labour because
of health. (O, 27 March 1909).

SONI, Zaver Randeri—Sentenced to one month. ({0, 5 September 1908).

SOOPRAYAN (SOUPRAYAN), C.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December
1908. ({0, 21 November and 19 December 1908).

SOOPRAYEN—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (0,
10 July 1909).

SUAN, Seethal—of Boksburg. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. (O, 26
February 1910).

SUBIAH—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to Durban, not
allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

SUBIAH—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 5 November 1910).

SU]J, Ismail Suliman—~Satyagrahi in the first phase. He said he had been in the
Transvaal for 15 years. He went to the Cape during the war and returned after
the war with a permit. He was a married man with children and had lost all
the money he had. He would comply with the law but would not register. ({0,
4 and 18 January 1908).

SUJEE (SUJI), S.—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 22 May
and 21 August 1909).

SULAMAN, Hassun—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (/O, 20
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February 1909).

SULEMAN, Amod—DPretoria. Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907; 1 February
1908).

SULIMAN, Ahmed—Picket. Deported from the Transvaal to India. (0, 25
January 1908; 12 February 1910).

SULIMAN, Cassim—of Houtpoort, Served a sentence of two months. Then
deported from the Transvaal to India. (0, 17 April 1909).

SULIMAN, Essopji—of Ventesdorp. Hawker. (/0, 12 and 21 November 1908).

SULIMAN, Ismail—of Pretoria. Sentenced in 1909 to one month with hard
labour. (O, 11 January 1908; 27 March 1909).

SULIMAN, Moosa—Pretoria. Chief Picket. Sentenced to three months with hard
labour for defying order to leave the Transvaal (0, 13 July 1907; 1 February
1908).

SUNDARAM, Govindasamy—Awaiting trial. ({0, 19 February 1910).

SUNDERJI—Sentenced. (O, 4 March 1911).

SUPPAVA (Subbaya)—Arrested. ({0, 5 and 12 March 1910).

SUPPAYA (Subbaya)—Arrested in March 1910. ... it appears that at about noon
on Saturday his wife was taken ill, and he went to Orange Grove to fetch the
doctor. It was on his way to this place that he was arrested. Meanwhile twins
were born. Mr. Suppaya was not able to secure a doctor, owing to his arrest. One
of the twins died on Saturday and the other on Sunday.” ({0, 12 March 1910).

SUPRAIYAN, C.T.—Sentenced to one month with hard labour. (O, 27 March
1909).

TAILOR, Gowan Mawji—Waiting for deportation to India. (0, 26 February 1910).

TAKOO—of Natal. An ex-indentured Indian who arrived in the 1890s. He
paid three pound tax after completing indenture. Arrested after crossing the
Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi, and deported. Crossed the border again
in September 1913 and was sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0,
1 and 8 October 1913).

TALATI, Dinshaw Pallonji—Arrested for violation of the Immigration Restric-
tion Act and sentenced in March 1909 to three months with hard labour. (O,
6 and 20 March 1909).

TALWANTSING, Ravikrishna—Born in South Africa. Arrested at Volksrust
after crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. Sentenced in 1908 to six weeks with
hard labour. (JO, 10 and 17 October 1908). Sentenced in 1909 to six months
with hard labour. ({0, 13 February 1909).

TAMABRAHM, Harry—Arrested. (O, 26 June 1909).

TAVERIA, Jeevanjee—DPicket. (10, 3 October 1908).

TEAM—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (/O, 31 December 1910).

TEAM, Antonio—of Johannesburg. Was deported to India and returned. Landed
in Cape Town. ({0, 3 December 1910). Well-known Satyagrahi. Tamil. ({0, 1
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October 1913). See also “THEIM, Anthony’.

THAIL Mpys.—of Germiston. Went to Charleston to cross the Transvaal border
and get arrested, but could not court arrest because of the provisional settlement
in January 1914. ({0, 25 February 1914).

THALI, N.A.—of Kimberley. Sentenced in December 1913 to three months
with hard labour for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border near Kimberley. (10,
10 December 1913).

THANDAPANI, R.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908).
Sentenced to one week with hard labour. ({0, 3 October 1908).

THEIM, Anthony—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 16 October
1909). See “TEAM, Antonio’.

THOMAS, Cappu—of Heidelberg. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Sentenced to
two months. (/0, 25 January 1908).

THOMAS, Major—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (0, 19 February
and 5 March 1910).

THOMPSON, Moses David—Schoolmaster, physical culturist and sportsman.
Born in Durban on 17 January 1888. Arrested in January 1910. Sentenced
to three months. (0, 29 January and 12 February 1910). Took part in the
satyagraha in the Transvaal in 1910 and served a term of imprisonment for
three months with hard labour. (Brampaw).

THUMBARAN, Sunny—Served imprisonment during the satyagraha. Volun-
teered for passive resistance in 1946, but was not called up because of ill-health.
Died on 13 May 1947. (Passive RESISTER, Johannesburg, 23 May 1947).

THUMBOOSAMY, Anthony—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned
to Durban, not allowed to land and sent to Port Elizabeth. (/O, 1 October 1910).

THUMBRAN, Harry—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

TIMOL, A.E.—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days with hard
labour. (0, 15 August 1908).

TIMOTHY, Isaiah—Born in South Africa. Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border
in January 1911. Sentenced to six weeks. (0, 21 January 1911).

TOMMY, Govindsamy—Born in Natal. Educated at Verulam School. Was clerk
and waiter. Crossed the Natal-Transvaal border with Gandhi and 11 others in
March 1910. Was then about 22-years-old. (O, 19 March 1910).

TOMMY, Mrs. M.—One of the Transvaal woman sentenced under Vagrancy Act
to three months with hard labour. (/O, 22 October 1913). See ‘Ramalingan,
Mrs. Tommy’.

TOMMY, R.M.—Arrested. (IO, 11 June 1910).

TOMY—Awaiting trial. (/0, 19 February 1910).

TOMY, P.M.—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (O,
10 July 1909).

TOOLAKANOO—Waiter. Born in Natal and possessed Natal domicile certif-
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icate. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. ({0,
23 July 1910).

TOOLSIE—of Pretoria. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Charged for not registering
under the Asiatic Act and ordered to leave the Transvaal. Defied the order. (0,
4 and 11 January and 11 February 1908).

TRIVENDRAM (TRIVANDARUM)—Deported. ({0, 12 and 19 March 1910).

TULSI—Sentenced. ({0, 4 March 1911).

TYAGARAJAN—Released from prison on 15 December 1910. (0, 24 December
1910).

UGI, Bhikhabhai Kalyanji—Awaiting trial. (/O, 17 October 1908).

UGI, Zinabhai Vallabhbhai—Awaiting trial. (0, 17 October 1908).

VAJA, Mr.—of Krugersdorp. Arrested and released on bail. ({0, 12 September
1908).

VALA, Makan—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. ({0, 6 February
1909).

VALLAB, Jiram—Transferred from the Transvaal on 9 April 1910 to Delagoa
Bay to be deported to India. (/O, 16 April 1910).

VALLABH, Makan—He crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in August 1908,
along with 11 others, to claim his right, under the Transvaal Immigration
Restriction Act, to enter the Transvaal as a pre-war resident. He had permits
and registration certificate under the Peace Preservation Ordinance. He refused
to give thumb impression under the Asiatic Act and was sentenced to depor-
tation. ({0, 29 August 1909)

VALLABHBHAI, Jhinabhai—Detained and deported for not producing registra-
tion certificate when demanded. (O, 10 and 17 October 1908).

VALLABHDAS, L.—of Pretoria. Sentenced to three days with hard labour. ({0,
19 September 1908).

VALLABHRAM—Picket. Deported. (0, 3 October 1908; 19 March 1910).

VALLIAMMA R. Moonsamy MUDALIAR—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

VALOO—Sentenced to three months at Volksrust. Released after provisional
settlement. (O, 4 March 1914).

VAMBLU, Andie—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour.
({10, 10 July 1909).

VANDEYAR, P.—(PreToria Tamir LEAGUE).

VANIA—of Standerton. Hawker. Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour. (Z0,
15 August 1908).

VANIA—of Krugersdorp. Arrested and released on bail. (/O, 12 September 1908).

VARDHARAJULOO—Deported from the Transvaal to India, returned to
Durban and allowed to land. (/O, 18 June 1910).

VARMALE, Edward—Arrested. ({0, 26 June 1909).

VARTACHALAN, Lakshman—DPre-war resident of the Transvaal. Arrested at
Volksrust after crossing into the Transvaal from Natal. (/0, 10 October 1908).
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VARTAK, V.R.—A prominent Indian of Cape Town. Maharashtrian. Secretary
of Awakened India Society of Cape Town. Sentenced on 7 November 1913 to
seven days with hard labour for hawking without licence. ({0, 19 November
1913).

V.R. Vartak, passive resister from Cape Town

VEERAMUTHOO—Sentenced to three months. Deported from the Transvaal
to India on 18 March 1910. ({0, 23 October 1909; 19 March 1910).

VEERAMUTHU, ]J.—Sentenced to 14 days with hard labour for hawking
without licence. He was in prison with Swami Nagappan Padayachy. (/O, 10
July 1909). Staunch passive resister. He had been five times in jail and was once
deported. (10, 19 April 1913).

VEERAMUTHU—Sentenced to three months with hard labour. (O, 5
November 1910).

VEERAN, Soopramanian—~Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard
labour. (0, 10 July 1909).

VEERASAMY, Mrs.—She crossed the Natal-Transvaal border in December 1913
with her child and the second batch of Transvaal women but was not arrested
as the immigration officer recognised her. She returned to Charlestown to
help strikers’ families. Returned to home in the Transvaal after the provisional
agreement. ({0, 25 February 1914).

VEERASAMY, Albert—Worker at Trocadero Restaurant in the Transvaal.
Refused order by the employer to register under the Asiatic Act, resigned and
courted arrest. Was imprisoned. (/0, 9 April and 29 October 1910).

VEERASAMY, Chellan—Worker at Trocadero Restaurant in the Transvaal.
Refused order by the employer to register under the Asiatic Act, resigned and
courted arrest. (0, 9 April 1910).

VEERASAMY (VEERASWAMY), Francis— Waiter, cook and baker. Born in
Natal, as were both his parents. Deported from the Transvaal to India in
1910. Then 24. (INp Rev, June 1910). Sentenced to 10 days with hard labour
for hawking without licence in Johannesburg in September 1913. When the
Government stopped arresting hawkers in the Transvaal, he went to Natal
with Manilal Gandhi and others and was sentenced to three months with hard
labour for crossing the Transvaal border without permit. An old campaigner, he
had served three terms of imprisonment during the satyagraha in the Transvaal
and was deported to India. (O, 15 October and 5 November 1913; 4 March
1914).

VEERASWAMY, Albert— Waiter. Brother of Francis (above). Deported from the
Transvaal to India, Then 17. (INp REv, June 1910). Returned to Durban and was
allowed to land. (O, 18 June 1910).

VEERDOO—Sentenced in June 1909 to three months with hard labour. (/0,
26 June and 10 July 1909).

VELAYADOM, S.—Picket. ({0, 3 October 1908).
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VELOO—Sentenced to two months with hard labour. (/O, 31 December 1910).

VELOO, Muthu—Released from prison on 15 December 1910. ({0, 24 December
1910).

VELOO (VELU), Perumal-—Hawker. Born in Mauritius. Deported from the
Transvaal. Landed in Bombay in May 1910. (/0, 19 March and 16 July 1910;
IND REv, June 1910). Returned to South Africa and landed in Cape Town. ({0,
3 December 1910).

VENGETSAMY, Hanmanth—of Pietermaritzburg. Arrested at Volksrust on 27
October 1913 for crossing the Natal-Transvaal border. (0, 5 November 1913).

VENKATASAMY, Kistnasamy—Storekeeper and laundryman. Born in Mauri-
tius. Deported from the Transvaal, landed in Colombo on 2 June 1910. Wife
and six children in the Transvaal. ({0, 23 July 1910; Inp REV, June 1910).

VERASAMY, S.—Satyagrahi in the first phase. ({0, 18 January 1908).

VIRAPATRAN, V.—Hawker. Jailed in November and December 1908. ({0, 21
November and 19 December 1908).

VIRGATSAMMY—of Heidelberg. Satyagrahi in the first phase. Sentenced to
two months with hard labour for not registering under the Asiatic Act and
defying order to leave the Transvaal. (O, 18 and 25 January 1908).

VITHALINGAM—Returned from deportation to India and landed in Cape
Town. (IO, 3 December 1910).

VURTHEN, V.—Hawker. Sentenced on 14 August 1908 for hawking without
licence. (10, 12 September 1908).

VYAS, Gaurishanker P.—See ‘Biographical Notes’.

WADEE, Mahomed—of Standerton. General dealer. Sentenced to 14 days with
hard labour. (/0, 15 August 1908).

WAJA, Amod E.—Arrested. (/O, 25 December 1909).

WAJA, Moosa E.—Arrested. (IO, 25 December 1909).

WILLIAMS, A.D.—Arrested. (0, 24 September 1910).

YENKETAPPAH—Charged in Durban on 14 November 1913 with incitement
to strike. (Na74ar WiTnEss, 14 November 1913).
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